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About Ceramic Fuel Cells
Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited (“CFCL”; “the Company”) previously was one of the world’s fuel cell technology 
companies to convert natural gas into electricity and heat for homes and small commercial buildings. 

In 2015 the Company sold its principle BlueGen technology and patents to interests associated with China 
National Petroleum Company, China’s largest oil and gas producer.

Since then the Company has been focused on the litigation management of its claims against Standard and 
Poor’s Financial Services LLC and other ratings agencies in respect to the losses incurred as a result of their 
rating of CFCL’s financial investments.
The Company will now focus its operations on the further assessment, management, acquisition and funding of 
other litigation claims including the losses on its own portfolio of CLO investments.

In May 2018 the Company reached an in principal agreement on the first of two tranches of claims against the 
ratings agencies in respect to its holdings of CDOs which was then settled in September 2018.

Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited shares were formerly quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange and as depository 
interests on the London Stock Exchange AIM market. The stock code on both markets traded CFU.  The company 
was delisted on 3 March 2018 and intends to apply to re-list on the Australian Stock Exchange before June 2019.
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

Dear Shareholder,

I am very pleased to introduce the FY 2018 Annual Report of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited and the audited 
�nancial statements for the years ended 30 June 2015, 30 June 2016, 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2018.

This is the �rst formal release of �nancial information since the company was placed into voluntary adminis-
tration on 3 March 2015 and provides shareholders with a further update from the Extraordinary General 
Meeting on 30 April 2018.

The purpose of these accounts and the annual report is to provide shareholders with an overview of the 
closure of the company’s manufacturing operations, disposal of its assets and patents, the status of our 
on-going litigation against Standard and Poor’s, and the future direction of the business.

I am also pleased to announce that after four years of litigation, we have successfully concluded the �rst in a 
series of claims against Standard and Poor’s as principal litigant in respect to the company’s 2006 purchase 
of “A” rated Collateralised Debt Securities (“CDO”).

The details of the settlement of the claims against Standard and Poor’s are con�dential, however it is 
expected that after all costs the company will recover $3.3M. The �rst transfer of the settlement was received 
on 20 September 2018. 

As a result of the settlement, the Company expects to declare a pro�t in the 30 June 2019 �nancial year and 
commence action in respect to its other “CLO” �nancial investment which it acquired in 2006 and disposed 
of in 2009.  The CLO investment were subject to the same �aws as the CDO investments which were success-
fully settled.

The company is now focusing its operations on the assessment, management acquisition and funding of 
litigation claims some of which have already been identi�ed.

The company proposes to relist in the next 6 months. As part of that process we will issue further informa-
tion for shareholders to consider in respect to the re-listing.

Prior to the re-listing the Board considers it prudent to address the current capital structure through a 
consolidation.  The Company currently has on issue 3,797,859,643 fully paid ordinary shares, held by a total 
of 11,234 shareholders:  Of those shareholders only 410 have more than a marketable parcel (being $500) 
and only 65 have more than a listable parcel (based on $2,000)

 
 

Damien M Hodgkinson
Chairperson
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Review of Operations & 
Activities
For the year ended 30 June 2015
Overview:
The Company was placed into Voluntary Administration on 1 March 2015 by a resolution of its directors.  

The Administrators ceased operations immediately and commenced a sale process for realization of the 
Company’s assest.The financial results for the financial year 2015 therefore include only nine months of normal 
trade operations and three months of exit and termination costs. 

The Company was subsequently placed into Liquidation by a resolution of Creditors on 16 April 2015.

Closure of Subsidiaries
 → Ceramic Fuel Cells (Europe) Limited (In Creditors’ Voluntary Liquidation) (“CFCE”) was a management, 
sales and service entity which owned 100% of Ceramic Fuel Cells GmbH and Ceramic Fuel Cells B.V. CFCE 
was placed into Creditors’ Voluntary Liquidation under UK law on 16 March 2015. On 8 April 2016, the UK 
Liquidator issued a notice to creditors stating that no dividend would be declared for creditors. A final 
meeting of CFCE was convened for 8 June 2016, with CFCE to be dissolved thereafter 24 September 2016. 

 → Ceramic Fuel Cells GmbH (In Liquidation) (“CFCG”) supported CFCL’s manufacturing operations from its 
production facility in Heinsberg, Germany, as well as hosting the European management, sales and services, 
and administration teams. CFCG was placed into Preliminary Administration under German law on 4 March 
2015 and subsequently into Liquidation on 1 June 2015. The liquidation of CFCG is now complete and no 
distribution to shareholders was made. 

 → Ceramic Fuel Cells B.V. (In Bankruptcy) (“CFCN”) employed two staff both of whom primarily serviced 
CFCG. On 27 March 2015, a Preliminary Trustee was appointed to CFCN under Netherlands law and it was 
subsequently declared bankrupt on 14 April 2015. The CFCN bankruptcy has now been finalised and no 
distribution to shareholders was made. 

 → Ceramic Fuel Cells Powder Limited (Deregistered) (“Powder”) was a dormant company at the date of 
Administration, its assets having been sold on 17 December 2013. Powder was voluntarily dissolved on 21 
July 2015 by request of its directors. 

Realisation of Assets  
 → The Administrators held a comprehensive sale process of CFCL’s business and assets to provide an 
opportunity to interested parties, to purchase a part or all of the business and assets of CFCL. The sale 
included an international marketing campaign and resulted in 15 interested parties signing non-disclosure 
agreements and gaining access to the Information Memorandum and online data room.   

 → On 26 May 2015, the Administrators entered into a Framework Agreement on the Acquisitions of Assets 
(“Sale Agreement”) with CNPC Xing De Energy Share Limited (“CNPCX”), a wholly owned subsidiary of 
China National Petroleum Company (“CNPC”). The transaction subject to the Sale Agreement completed 
on 5 June 2015 and included the sale of CFCL’s intellectual property, such as registered patents, registered 
trademarks, drawings and other physical and electronic records (“IP”), plant and equipment and inventory 
for a total purchase price of $8.75m. CNPC is part of China’s largest state run oil and gas producer.

 → The sales proceeds were allocated $8,067,290 to IP (non-circulating assets) and $682,710 to plant and 
equipment and inventory (circulating assets). 
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Patents
$

PP&E (Labs)
$

PP&E Other
$

Software
$

Total
$

Opening WDV  1,768,956  5,565,752  1,437,833  82,182  8,854,723
 Additions  213,100  -  69,542  24,396  307,038
 Depreciation  (115,015)  (662,617)  (479,503)  (51,338)  (1,308,472) 
 Closing WDV  1,867,041  4,903,135  1,027,872  55,240  7,853,288
 Sale proceeds  8,067,290  569,340  113,370  -  8,750,000

 Gain/(loss)  6,200,249  (4,333,795)  (914,502)  (55,240)  896,712

Financial Results
Key financial results for the financial year from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015 are as follows:

 → Net Loss after Tax    AUD $12.10M

 → Revenue from Operations   AUD $  2.26M

 → Cash balance at 30 June 2015  AUD $  0.89M

Operating Expenses
 → Sales and Marketing expenses were $1.15M compared to $2.31M for the full year in 2014.  The reduction in 
expenditure is due to the termination of sales operations on commencement of the Administration.

 → General and Administration expenses were $3.21M compared to $13.55M for the full year 2014.  The reduction 
in expenditure is due to the termination of sales operations on commencement of the Administration.

 → Direct Research and Development expenses were $2.43M compared to $4.13M in the prior year. The reduction 
in expenditure is due to the termination of sales operations on commencement of the Administration.

 → The Company incurred a loss on disposal of assets of $11.14M including the disposal of plant and equipment 
and the right down of investments in foreign subsidiaries.

 → Finance costs were $1.08M the same as the prior year as interest accrued on the outstanding debt until 
payment was completed. On 12 June 2015, the secured convertible noteholders received a priority distribution 
of $7,835,961 (with $263,634 allocated to realisation costs) relating to the IP non-circulating assets over which 
they held registered security interests. 

Research and Development
Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited - Notional Deductions in relation to R&D Offset for income year ending 30 June 2015 
Item Amount ($)
Direct Project Costs 3,647,409 
Supporting Department Costs 1,707,439 
Prototype manufacturing department costs 176,049 
R&D department costs 116,246 
The “Board” 20,720 
Redundancy Payment – Annual leave 227,738 
Redundancy Payment – Long service leave 642,904 
Balancing Adjustment – Disposal of R&D assets  4,996,412 
TOTAL 11,534,917

The Company received $5,196,799 from the ATO on 10 December 2015.  These funds were then used to repay 
monies advanced to the Company by the Fair Entitlements Guarantee Scheme (FEG) for the settlement of 
employee entitlements.
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Net Loss after Tax Attributable to Members
 → The net loss for the year after tax was $12.10M a decrease of $9.09M on the previous year. Subsequent to 
year end a tax refund of $5.19M was submitted in FY16 based on R&D expenditure claim of $11.54M.  These 
funds were received in December 2015. 

 → The net loss after tax represents a loss of $0.3 cents per share compared to a loss of $1.19 cents in the prior 
year.

Cash flow
 → The Company had residual cash holdings of $710,870 at the date of appointment of the Administrators 
which was consolidated into the Administration Bank Account.  The balances during this period represent 
funds held from time to time by the Administrators of the Company. These funds were transferred to the 
Liquidation Bank Account on 16 April 2015.

 → Aa at 30 June 2015, the Liquidators’ held $898,809 in the Liquidation Bank Account.

Financial – Reasons for Failure
 → The directors at the time of the Administration provided an explanation to the Administrators for CFCL’s 
failure which was summarised in the Administrators Section 439A Report dated 7 April 2015. 

The Administrators further investigations confirmed that CFCL maintained an inappropriate overhead and 
capital structure relative to sales, specifically due to: 

 → Reliance on equity and debt raising to fund working capital due to limited sales revenue; 

 → High employee costs; 

 → High property costs; 

 → High patent renewal costs; and 

 → A requirement to fund overseas subsidiaries, particularly manufacturing in CFCG. 

The consolidated Company was historically loss making and achieved no significant sales. A failure to generate 
sufficient sales may also have been attributable to the relative high cost of the units commensurate to their 
life span and payback period, particularly in jurisdictions where government incentives were negligible or non-
existent. 

The consolidated Company was at the time working towards both lowering unit costs by transferring parts of 
its supply chain to China and developing extended product lifespan, but it was unable to do so to an extent, 
which made it a significantly more attractive product to target markets. 

CFCL was reliant on capital raising not only to meet its capital expenditure but also for its working capital 
requirements. Its failure to raise capital or consummate a sale or partnership investment in the months leading 
up to the Administrators appointment left it with no option but to enter external administration. 
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Review of Operations & 
Activities
For the year ended 30 June 2016
Overview:
McGraw Hill (“S&P”) Litigation

 → In July 2006 the Company acquired US$2.00M in Duke Funding XI Ltd Class A-3E which were sold at a loss 
of US$1.99M (A$3.34M) in July 2009.

 → It was alleged that S&P did not have reasonable grounds for concluding that the Duke CDO should be as-
signed an “A” rating on which CFCL and its advisors placed their reliance. 

 → On 18 September 2015, a Statement of Claim was filed on behalf of CFCL against S&P in the Federal Court 
of Australia in New South Wales. 

 → Prior to the commencement of the legal proceedings, a funding agreement was entered into between the 
Administrators and Litigation Capital Partners LLP Pte Ltd (“LCP”) to fund legal proceedings against S&P. 
The funding agreement provides, amongst other things, that LCP will: 

 → Meet all legal costs and disbursements with respect to the proceedings; 

 → Meet any Cost Order the Court makes with respect to the proceedings; 

 → Pay any security for costs required in the proceedings; 

 → Receive the equivalent of 40% of any settlement proceeds; 

 → Receive the equivalent of 12.5% of legal costs as a project management fee; and 

 → If LCP provides funding for an appeal or the defence of an appeal, receive the equivalent of a further 5% 
of any settlement proceeds. 

 → The litigation funding provided a basis for delivering certainty to creditors as to their minimum return and 
allows the Administrators to accelerate distributions. 

Financial Results
Key financial results for the financial year from 1 July 2015 to 30 June 2016 are as follows:

 → Net Loss after Tax    AUD $1.16M

 → Revenue from Operations   AUD $  NIL

 → Cash balance at 30 June 2016  AUD $0.56M

Operating Expenses
 → General and Administration expenses were $1.18M compared to $3.21M in the prior year.  These costs 
represent the external administration and legal costs incurred in the sale and disposal of the Company’s 
assets and patents.   

 → Finance costs were $19,436 being the residual interest charges on settlement of the remaining secured 
facilities in July 2015.
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Net Loss after Tax Attributable to Members
 → The net loss for the year after tax was $1.16M a decrease of $12.10M on the previous year. The net loss after tax 
represents a loss of $0.04 cents per share compared to a loss of $0.43 cents in the prior year.

Cash flow
 → At 30 June 2016 the Liquidators’ held $563,675 in the Liquidation Bank Account.

Operational and business strategies
 → The Company is reviewing all other claims against McGraw Hill S& P across the Company’s portfolio of 
investments.
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Review of Operations & 
Activities
For the year ended 30 June 2017
Overview:
Deed Proposal

 → On 1 June 2016 Creditors resolved to accept a Deed Proposal from Tiga Trading Pty Limited (“TIGA”).  That 
proposal would, if completed have caused the Company’s litigation claims to end, as they were not capable 
at the time of being assigned.  

 → On 15 July 2016 Litigation Capital Partners Funding Pte Limited (“LCPF”) submitted an alternate proposal 
to protect the claims which was then ratified by the Supreme Court of Victoria on 12 September 2016.The 
Deed proposal provided additional funding of $585,000 to settle creditor claims via a Creditors Trust.  The 
Company was then returned to a new Board of Directors on 4 October 2016.

 → LCPF also agreed to provide an additional facility of $350,000 to fund the completion of work necessary 
to re-list the Company.  The original DOCA contribution and the additional facility were to be repaid or con-
verted to shares on re-listing subject to shareholder consent.

Creditors Trust
 → On 11 October 2016 $1,081,651 was transferred to the Creditors Trust, at the same time Creditor claims of 
$1,941,068 were assigned by the Trust.

 →  The Trustee has since made two distributions to Creditors:
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4 November 2016 $388,213
19 June 2017 $291,160
TOTAL $679,373

 → Under the terms of the DOCA. The Trust is entitled to the proceeds of the Duke CDO claim estimated to be 
$1.53M. A summary of the Trust account is set out in the table below:

Creditor Claims transferred to Trust $1,941,068
Distribution ($679,373)
Trustee Fees and accrued interest $300,000
Settlement of Duke ($1,528,359)
SHORTFALL TO CREDITORS ($33,338)

 → The Trustees have indicated that there is unlikely to be any surplus to shareholders from the Creditors Trust

Financial Results
Key financial results for the year from 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017 are as follows:

 → Net Loss after Tax    AUD $0.22M

 → Revenue from Operations   AUD $0.38M

 → Cash balance at 30 June 2017  AUD $0.03M

Operating Expenses
 → Employee expenses of $152,000 relate to accrued directors, fees and company secretarial costs.

 → General and Administration expenses are $0.178M a significant decrease on the prior year of $1.178M which 
includes accrued legal fees and administration costs.

 → Loss on Disposal of Assets of $248,000 is the assignment of the security bond held by the landlord in respect 
to the lease on the property in Browns Road, Dandenong, Victoria, Australia.

Net Loss after Tax Attributable to Members
 → The net loss for the year after tax was $0.22M a decrease of $0.94M on the previous year. The net loss after tax 
represents a loss of $0.00661 cents per share compared to a loss of $0.04 cents in the prior year.

Cash flow
 → The Company held cash at bank of $35,650 as at 30 June 2017 and had not drawn down on the additional 
LCPF facility.

Operational and business strategies
 → The Company is managing the litigation claims and focused on identifying further claims held by the Company.
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Review of Operations & 
Activities
For the year ended 30 June 2018
Overview:
McGraw Hill (“S&P”) Litigation

 → In May 2006 the Company acquired £5.0M in Khamsin SCDO which were sold at a loss of £6.73M (A$9.673) 
in February 2009.

 → It was alleged that S&P did not have had reasonable grounds for concluding that the Khamsin SCDO should 
be assigned an “A” rating on which CFCL and its advisors placed their reliance. 

 → There were additional risks in respect to the Khamsin claims as the claims were submitted outside the no-
tification period and as such were time barred.  An amended statement of claim against S&P was issued in 
respect to the Khamsin SCDO.

 → On 19 September 2017 the Company entered into a further funding agreement for the additional claims.  
Prior to the commencement of the legal proceedings, a funding agreement was entered into between the 
Administrators and Litigation Capital Partners LLP Pte Ltd (“LCP”) to fund legal proceedings against S&P. 
The funding agreement provides, amongst other things, that LCP will: 

 → Meet all legal costs and disbursements with respect to the proceedings; 

 → Meet any Cost Order the Court makes with respect to the proceedings; 

 → Pay any security for costs required in the proceedings; 

 → Receive the equivalent of 70% of any settlement proceeds; 

 → Receive the equivalent of 12.5% of legal fees representing a project management fee; and 

 → If LCP provides funding for an appeal or the defence of an appeal, receive the equivalent of a further 5% 
of any settlement proceeds. 

 → The litigation funder required a higher settlement fee of 70% due the time barred status of the claim.

 → The legal proceedings are one in a class of actions against S&P and it is anticipated that these class actions 
will provide leverage to CFCL’s claim of c. $9.6M. 

Financial Results
Key financial results for the financial year from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018 are as follows:

 → Net Loss after Tax    AUD $0.48M

 → Revenue from Operations   AUD $  NIL

 → Cash balance at 30 June 2018  AUD $  NIL
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Operating Expenses
 → Employee expenses of $156,000 relate to accrued directors’ fees and company secretarial costs.

 → General and Administration expenses are $0.283M a significant decrease on the prior year of $0.426M which 
includes accrued legal fees and administration costs

Net Loss after Tax Attributable to Members
 → The net loss for the year after tax was $0.48M an increase of $0.256M on the previous year. The net loss after 
tax represents a loss of $0.0137 cents per share compared to a loss of $0.000661 cents in the prior year.

Cash flow
 → The Company held cash at bank of $4,126 as at 30 June 2018.

Operational and business strategies
 → The Company’s records indicate it is carrying losses of $8.76M on $21.389M in financial instruments it acquired 
in 2006 and disposed of in September and December 2009 in respect to CLO investments The Company’s 
records indicate it is carrying losses of $8.76M on $21.389M in financial instruments it acquired in 2006 and 
disposed of in September and December 2009 in respect to CLO investments.
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Directors’ Report
Your directors present their report on the for the period from 1 July 2014 to the year ended 
30 June 2014.

Directors:
The directors of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited in office at the date of this report are:

 → Mr Damien Hodgkinson, Executive Chairman

 → Ms Song Qixiang, Non Executive Director

 → Ms Kyla Banton, Non Executive Director

Mr Quentin Olde was appointed 6 October 2016 and resigned 9 November 2017 
The former directors of the Company were removed by the Administrators as a condition precedent of the 
Deed of Company Arrangement.

Name Position Date appointed Date of cessation 

Robert John Kennett Director 24 August 2006 Removed 6 October 2016
Alasdair Locke Director 24 September 2012 Removed 6 October 2016
Clifford Walter Ashby Director 8 October 2013 Removed 6 October 2016
Karl Föger Director 1 August 2014 Removed 6 October 2016
Glenn Lawrence Raines Secretary 16 November 2012 Removed 6 October 2016

Principal Activities
The principal activity of the Company during the last four years has been the investigation and litigation of 
claims against various rating agencies for the financial losses it suffered as a result of the ratings applied by 
the those rating agencies on investments held as part of CFCL capital reserves.

Review of Operations
Information on the operations and financial position of the Company and its business strategies and prospects 
is set out in the Review of Operations for each of the financial years.

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs
In the opinion of the directors there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company that 
occurred during the period under review not otherwise disclosed in this report or in the financial statements.

The Company is expected to return to profitability in the financial year ended 30 June 2019 as the Company 
continues to litigate for compensation in respect to investments made in rated CDO, SCDO and CLOs.

Dividends
No dividends were recommended, declared or paid during the year and to the date of this report.
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Matters Subsequent to end of Financial Year
Settlement of Claims

 → On 17 May 2018 our Solicitors, Squire Patton Boggs executed an in principal settlement with Standard and 
Poor’s.  The terms of the settlement are strictly confidential and subject to Court Orders.

 → Under the terms of the Deed of Company Arrangement, the proceeds from Duke CDO $1.5M will be remitted 
to the Creditors Trust.

 → The entirety of funds payable on the Khamsim CDO after litigation costs and funding, $3.3M was paid directly 
to the Company on 20 September 2018.

Likely Developments and Expected Return from Operations
The Board is proposing to re-list the Company on the Australian Stock Exchange.

Recapitalisation of ASX listed shell 
On 25 February 2016, the Liquidators advertised in the Australian Financial Review for the recapitalization of 
CFCL’s ASX listed shell. The recapitalisation formerly enabled a proponent to recapitalise the listed company and 
undertake a “backdoor” listing of an existing business. In the case of CFCL, a new business will need to be placed 
into its ASX listed shell. The process requires approvals from CFCL’s creditors, shareholders and regulators (ASX 
and ASIC) prior to reinstatement on the ASX.  Under changes to ASX listing rules, the re-listing of CFCL will be a 
new listing.

On 16 May 2016, the Liquidators received a draft DOCA and Creditors’ Trust Deed from Tiga. 

Creditors approved executor of the Deed Proposed with Tiga on 1 June 2016.

On 15 July 2016, Litigation Capital Partners Funding Pte Ltd (“LCPF”), an entity associated with the litigation 
funder LCP submitted an alternate DOCA Proposal on the same terms as Tiga.

 On 12 September 2016, Justice Sifris of the Supreme Court of Victoria approved the substitution of LCPF for the 
execution of the Deed of Company Arrangement.

On 4 October 2016, the terms of the DOCA were completed and the Creditors Trust was established.

On 3 March 2018, the ASX permanently delisted the Company from the ASX.

Progress to Relisting
In order to relist on the ASX, the Company needs to achieve a number of goals.
Complete all outstanding reporting requirements:

 → Half year accounts;
 → Full Year Audit 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018; and
 → Company Tax returns 2016, 2017 and 2018.
 → Minimum of 300 non-affiliated creditors with a minimum parcel of $2,000.
 → Free Float Shares of 20%.
 → Company test $1.0M in aggregated profit over last 3 years with $0.5M in last 12 months or net tangible assets 
of $4.0M.

There are currently 3,797,859,643 shares on issue to 11,234 Shareholders.

Environmental Regulation
The Company is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under a law of the Commonwealth, or 
of a State or Territory, of Australia.
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Directors’ Details
Further information regarding the directors of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited in office at the date of this report is 
as follows:

Mr Damien Hodgkinson
Non-Executive Director October 2016 and Executive Chairperson since November 2017

Mr Hodgkinson is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants Australia, and the Managing Director 
of DEM Asia Company. 

He has worked in Australia, the Asia Pacific and South America on complex cross border insolvencies and 
represented lenders in the realisation of offshore assets in North American multi-national companies including 
Akai Electric (Japan), Johnson and Evinrude (USA), and HIH Winterthur (Hong Kong). 

After returning to Australia in 2004, Mr Hodgkinson joined KPMG as a partner in their corporate restructuring 
practice in Sydney where he represented corporate debtors in the renegotiation of primary lending facilities 
including Lehmans, Hedley Company, Babcock and Brown Limited, Colorado Limited, Retail Adventures Pty 
Limited, BBY Limited and ABC Learning Centres Limited. 

Mr Hodgkinson is currently a director of APP Securities Pty Limited, an Australian stockbroking and investment 
banking firm servicing Asia Pacific. 

Non-executive Director APP Securities Pty Limited

Financial Interests in shares NIL

Ms Kyla Banton
Non-Executive Director since October 2016

Kyla Singleton is a solicitor with over 10 years experience in commercial litigation, working with clients in many 
fields including large corporates and government bodies.  

In 2015, Kyla commenced working in litigation funding, managing funding of large complex shareholder and 
other class actions, insolvency and general commercial litigation matters. 

Kyla holds a bachelors degree in Finance/Accounting from the University of Adelaide and a Bachelor of Law 
from Queensland University of Technology.  

Financial Interests in shares NIL
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Ms Song Qixiang
Non-Executive Director since October 2016

Ms Song is currently a Nominee Director and Company Secretary for a number of investment holding com-
panies in Singapore. She has over 17 years of experience working in finance, accounting, corporate secretary, 
financial modelling, and commodities. 

Her previous role was Finance Director and Company Secretary for an investment banking firm where she was 
responsible for all aspects of financial matters including overseeing statutory accounting, management report-
ing and compliance with local regulatory authorities. 

Ms Song’s earlier work involved financial modelling and analysis of various bids for potential projects, participa-
tion and conducting financial and legal due diligence on acquisition deals as well as preparation of investment 
materials.
 
Ms Song is Singaporean Chinese with a Bachelor of Business Administration and a Master of Applied Finance 
both obtained from Australian universities. 

Financial Interests in shares NIL

Mr Matt Adams
Company Secretary, appointed October 2016
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
This remuneration report sets out remuneration information for Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited’s non-executive 
directors, executive directors and other key management personnel.

Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration

Non-Executive Directors

The fees paid to non-executive directors, including the Chairman, reflect the demands which are made on, 
and the responsibilities of, the directors. Directors’ remuneration consists of an annual fee plus statutory 
superannuation (where applicable). Directors are also entitled to be reimbursed for expenses incurred on 
Company business. Directors do not receive additional ‘per meeting’ fees.
The current annual fees for the Executive Chairperson and non-executive directors, excluding statutory 
superannuation, are:

Director Fee p.a. Comment

Damien Hodgkinson $61,000 Executive Chairman, 
Song Qixiang $44,000 Non-executive Director.
Kyla Banton $44,000 Non-executive Director 

The Board may adjust remuneration of non-executive directors from time to time, up to an aggregate amount 
determined by the shareholders. The Board adjusted the fees of non-executive directors in October 2016 due 
to the decreased responsibilities. The current aggregated, capped amount is $600,000 per annum, approved 
by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in November 2011.

Given the change in operations the remuneration of directors has been reduced to $149,000 and is significantly 
under the shareholder approved limit.

Director Roll Appointment Date Annual Fee Pro-rata Base Super

Quentin Olde Chairman 04-Oct-2016 09-Nov-2017 61,000 66,682 60,897 5,785 
Damien Hodgkinson Director 04-Oct-2016 09-Nov-2017 44,000 48,099 43,926 4,173 
Damien Hodgkinson Chairman 09-Nov-2017 30-June-2018 61,000 38,940 35,561 3,378 
Kyla Singleton Director 04-Oct-2016 30-June-2018 44,000 76,186 69,576 6,610 
Qixiang Song Director 04-Oct-2016 30-June-2018 44,000 76,186 69,576 6,610 
Total 306,093 279,537 26,556 

Company’s shareholders approved a Directors and Employee Benefits Plan (Equity Plan) in 2009, which gives 
the Board discretion to offer equity to directors (with shareholder approval) these shares vested at the date 
of administration as part of employee termination packages.  The plan has now been terminated and no new 
equity will be issued under this plan.  

If a new Equity Plan is to be created it will require a new shareholder approval.
The relative proportions of remuneration that were linked to performance, and those that were fixed, were as 
follows for the year ended 30 June 2018:
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Name Fixed remuneration At risk remuneration(Shares)

Executive Chairperson
Damien Hodgkinson 100%

Non-Executive Directors
Song Qixiang 100% -
Kyla Banton 100% -

Former Directors
Quentin OIde 100% -

Share-based compensation
Options
Options over shares in Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited have been granted under the CFCL Share Option Plan 
(approved by shareholders on 26 November 1999) and under the Directors and Employee Benefits Plan 
(approved by shareholders on 28 November 2006). 

Under each plan, all full time and part time permanent employees, including directors but excluding casual and 
short-term contract employees, may be offered options on terms agreed by the Board. Any offer of options to 
directors requires shareholder approval.

No options were granted during the period 3 March 2015 to 30 June 2018 or from that date to the date of this 
report.

Options granted under the plan carry no dividend, nor voting rights. When exercisable, each option is convertible 
into one ordinary share of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited. 

On 3 March 2015 when the Company was placed into administration CFCL’s ordinary shares closed at $0.004 
on the Australian Securities Exchange, as such none of these options were exercisable.

Loans to Directors
No loans were made to directors or to executives during the financial year and to the date of this report.

Shares Under Option
Unissued Ordinary shares of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited under option as at the date of this report are as follows:

Grant date Expiry date Issue price of 
shares A$

Number of shares 
under option

Number of options 
exercisable

26 Jun 2009 25 Jun 2019 0.175 1,731,710 1,731,710
1 Oct 2010 30 Sep 2020 0.1825 1,439,700 1,439,700

28 Sep 2011 27 Sep 2021 0.15 2,171,750 2,171,750
5,343,160 5,343,160

No option holder has any right under the terms of the issuance of their options to participate in any other share 
issue of the Company or of any other entity.
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Shares Issued on Exercise of Options
No options over shares were exercised during the period from 3 March 2015 ended 30 June 2018 and from 
1 July 2018 to the date of this report.

Insurance of Officers and Indemnification of Auditors
The Company does not currently hold Director and Officers Insurance as the Company has not been 
trading.  The Company is currently obtaining quotes for new insurance coverage.

The Company has not indemnified the Auditor  against claims from third parties arising from the provision 
of audit services except where prohibited by the Corporations Act 2001, or due to negligence, fraudulent 
conduct, dishonesty or breach of trust by the auditor.
Corporations Act 2001.

Non-Audit Services
At the Extraordinary Meeting of Shareholders held on 30 April 2018, shareholders resolved to appoint 
William Buck as auditors replacing the Company’s previous auditor PriceWaterhouseCoppers. 
 
The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties 
where the auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and/or the Company is important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor William Buck for audit and non-audit services provided 
during the period are set out below.

The Board of directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received from the 
Audit Committee, is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general 
standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied 
that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

 → all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Board Audit Committee to ensure that they do not 
impact the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor; and

 → none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for non-audit services provided by the auditor of 
the parent entity and its related practices:

2018 $

(a) Taxation Services
William Buck’ Australian firm
Preparation of company income tax returns 11,550
Preparation of Interim Accounts 8,800
Total Fees for Taxation Services 11,550

(b) Other Assurance Services
William Buck’ Australian firm -
Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers’ Australian firm 41,690
Total Fees for Other Assurance Services -
Total Fees for Non-Audit Services 62,040 
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Board of Directors
The Board currently consists of a Chairman, and two Non-Executive directors. The Board has ultimate 
responsibility to the shareholders for the welfare of the Company by guiding and monitoring the Company’s 
business affairs. 

Under the Company’s constitution, directors are elected for three years subject to the requirement that 
one-third of the directors must retire at each annual general meeting. A retiring director may stand for re-
election.

A director must declare any conflict of interest, and directors may not participate in discussions or 
resolutions pertaining to any matter in which the director has a material personal interest without Board 
approval. In discharging their duties, directors are provided with direct access to senior management and 
outside advisors and auditors. Board committees and individual directors may seek, with the Chairman’s 
approval, independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in order to perform their duties.
The Company’s practise is to execute a formal deed with each director and the Company Secretary 
regarding access to Board papers, indemnity and insurance.

The Board usually meets monthly, with additional meetings when required. 

Directors’ Independence
The current directors hold no shares in the company. 

Communication with Shareholders
The Board aims to ensure that the shareholders are informed of all major developments affecting the 
Company’s performance. The Company promotes effective communications to keep shareholders 
regularly informed about the Company.

Information is communicated to shareholders through the Company’s annual report, annual general 
meeting, half-yearly results, and website (www.cfclimited.com). The Company also provides a facility 
on its website for shareholders to subscribe to receive Company announcements and shareholder 
communications by email. 

Shareholder Information
The shareholder information in this section was applicable as at 23 November 2018.

Equity Securities
The Company had on issue 3,797,859,643 fully paid ordinary shares, held by a total of 11,234 shareholders: 
There are 10,824 security investors holding less than a marketable parcel (being $500) based on current 
net asset backing.

One new substantial holder notice was received by the Company during the period 3 March 2015 and to the 
date of preparation of this information from Litigation Capital Partners who hold 19.91% of the Company’s 
listed shares. 
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Substantial shareholders of 5% or more as at 23 
November 2018 were:
Shareholder Shares Held %

J P Morgan Nominees Australia 523,059,110 13.77%
Litigation Capital Partners 756,242,549 19.91%
Mr Alasdair Locke 200,000,000 5.27%

Top 20 Shareholders
Shareholder Shares Held %

J P Morgan Nominees Australia 523,059,110 13.77%
Litigation Capital Partners 756,242,549 19.91%
Mr Alasdair Locke 200,000,000 5.27%
Chase Nominees Limited 123,364,485 3.25%
Hong Kong Three Circle 100,000,000 2.63%
Aurora Nominees Limited 90,909,090 2.39%
Appwam Pty Limited 80,000,000 2.11%
HSBC Global Custody Nominee 64,750,000 1.70%
Bergen Global Opportunity 50,577,786 1.33%
Log Creek Pty Ltd 45,572,915 1.20%
Barclayshare Nominees Limited 38,429,128 1.01%
HSDL Nominees Limited 19,512,513 0.51%
Winterflood Securities Limited 16,171,663 0.43%
State Street Nominees Limited 16,109,523 0.42%
Ceramic Oxide Fabricators 15,590,625 0.41%
Hargreaves Lansdown (Nominees) 12,973,469 0.34%
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 12,965,614 0.34%
Hargreaves Lansdown (Nominees) 12,133,319 0.32%
Guthrie CAD/GIS Software 12,000,000 0.32%
HSBC Client Holdings Nominee 11,601,591 0.31%

TOTAL TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS 2,201,963,380 57.98%
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the Consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as 
the 'Consolidated entity') consisting of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited  (referred to hereafter as the 'company' or 'parent entity') 
and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the half-year ended 31 December 2014. 
  

Directors 
The following persons were directors of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited during the whole of the financial half-year and up to the 
date of this report, unless otherwise stated: 
  
Alasdair Locke (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Robert Kennett (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Roman Dudenhausen (resigned 31 July 2014) 
Clifford Ashby (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Quentin Olde (appointed 4 October 2016, resigned 9 November 2017) 
Karl Foger (appointed 1 August 2014, resigned 4 October 2016) 
Damien Hodgkinson (appointed 4 October 2016) 
Song Qixing (appointed 4 October 2016) 
Kyla Singleton (appointed 4 October 2016) 
  

Basis of accounting 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate 
for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 
 
The company entered voluntary administration on 1 March 2015. The company finalised its Deed of Company Arrangement, 
on 4 October 2016, subsequent to 31 December 2014 but prior to the date that this report was issued.  The half-year report 
for the 6 months ended 31 December 2014 has been prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors believe that the 
going concern basis of accounting is appropriate.  
 
As a result of the company entering Voluntary Administration on 1 March 2015 and the replacement of the company 
personnel the current Directors have been unable to obtain access to the books and records to allow the preparation of this 
half-year report to comply with the disclosure requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001. The Directors have confirmed that for subsequent accounting periods the required policies and procedures will be 
instigated to ensure full compliance with all disclosure requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 
Act 2001. 
  

Dividends 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial half-year. 
  

Review of operations 
The loss for the Consolidated entity after providing for income tax amounted to $6,573,776 (31 December 2013: loss of 
$7,828,215). 
  

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated entity during the financial half-year. 
 
Likely developments and expected results of operations 
Information on likely developments in the operations of the Consolidated entity and the expected results of operations have 
not been included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the 
Consolidated entity. 
 
Shares under option 
There were no unissued ordinary shares of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited under option outstanding at the date of this report. 
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Matters subsequent to the end of the financial half-year 
The following significant matters have occurred since the reporting date; 
  
Ceramic Fuel Cells Powder Limited was voluntarily dissolved on 21 July 2015 by request of its directors. 
  
On 9 December 2015 the company received a Research and Development Tax Incentive cash refund to the amount of 
$5,196,000.  
  
On 4 October 2016 the company entered into a Deed of Company Arrangement (DOCA), which allowed the recapitalisation 
of the company. 
 
 Under the terms of the DOCA, all available property of the company and a $585,000 contribution from Litigation Capital 

Partners were used to repay unsecured creditors, with the remainder of the debt being forgiven. 
 

 In accordance with the DOCA, the company issued 456,242,549 shares to raise $40,000. 
 

 The DOCA was completed and Alasdair Locke, Robert Kennett and Clifford Ashby resigned as Directors of the 
company. On the same day Damien Hodgkinson, Quentin Olde, Kyla Singleton and Song Qixiang were appointed as 
Directors of the company. 

 
On 19 September 2017 the company amended the loan agreement with Litigation Capital Partners to include the following 
amendments; 
  
To increase the available facility to $935,000 by way of a facility extension of $350,000; 
 
 At the discretion of Litigation Capital Partners the loan may now be converted into shares at a rate of $0.0001 per share;  

and 
 
 The loan repayment date has been modified to only require repayment if the company issues new share capital 

 
On 9 November 2017 Quentin Olde resigned as a Director of the company. 
  
On 17 May 2018 the company reached settlement in respect of their class action case against the ratings agency Standard 
and Poor’s. The exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders being made in respect to the 
costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined the claim has been classified as a Contingent Asset. It is expected 
that the company will recover approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost orders and distributions, the 
timing of which has not yet been determined Further disclosure in respect of this has been provided in the financial report. 
  
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2014 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect the Consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the Consolidated entity's state of affairs in 
future financial years. 
 

Indemnity and insurance of officers 
The company has indemnified the directors and executives of the company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director 
or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. 
  
During the financial half-year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and executives of 
the company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 
  

Indemnity and insurance of auditor 
The company has not, during or since the end of the financial half-year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the 
company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 
  
During the financial half-year, the company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the 
company or any related entity. 
  





 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE 
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF CERAMIC FUEL CELLS LIMITED 
 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief during the half-year ended 31 
December 2014 there have been: 

— no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the review; and 

— no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
review. 

 
 
 
 
William Buck Audit [Vic] Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136 
 
 
 
 
N. S. Benbow 
Director 
 
Dated this 8th day of August 2018 
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 31 December 

2014 
 31 December 

2013 
  $  $ 
     

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes 
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Revenue  4,696,647   3,847,153   
  
Expenses     
Cost of sales  (2,839,075)  (4,893,906)   
Manufacturing  (915,522)  (1,540,820)   
Research & product development  (2,141,562)  (3,933,071)   
Marketing  (969,563)  (1,860,516)   
Other gains / (losses) - foreign exchange  12,514   (866,662)   
General & administration  (7,880,453)  (4,129,040)   
Finance costs  (636,347)  (447,505)   
Impairment reversal / (charge)  -  1,973,570 
  
Loss before income tax benefit  (10,673,361)  (11,850,797)   
  
Income tax benefit  4,099,585   4,022,582   
  
Loss after income tax benefit for the half-year attributable to the owners of Ceramic 
Fuel Cells Limited  

 
(6,573,776) 

 
(7,828,215)   

  

Other comprehensive income for the half-year, net of tax  790,866    1,408,090   
  
Total comprehensive income for the half-year attributable to the owners of Ceramic 
Fuel Cells Limited  

 
(5,782,910) 

 
(6,420,125)   

  
 
 
  Cents  Cents 
Earnings per share for loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company     
Basic and diluted earnings per share  (0.24)  (0.49) 
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Note 
 31 December 

2014 
 
30 June 2014 

    $  $ 
       

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Assets       
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents    3,767,801   5,310,161  
Trade and other receivables    554,223   464,519  
Inventories    9,469,695   10,431,490  
Prepayments    368,178   258,880  
Total current assets    14,159,897   16,465,050  
       
Non-current assets       
Property, plant and equipment    9,052,077   9,628,457  
Intangibles    1,000   1,000  
Deposits    248,000   235,551  
Total non-current assets    9,301,077   9,865,008  
       
Total assets    23,460,974   26,330,058  
  

Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables    254,684  1,733,660 
Borrowings    367,252  348,275 
Employee benefits    1,454,478  1,536,575 
Provisions    983,443  1,312,363 
Other    573,297  1,274,918 
Total current liabilities    3,633,154  6,205,791  
       
Non-current liabilities       
Borrowings    356,297   530,070 
Employee benefits    32,407   39,244 
Provisions    6,407,413   2,712,099 
Convertible notes    7,903,505   6,951,133 
Derivative financial instruments    268,281   759,574 
Other    -  1,216,609 
Total non-current liabilities    14,967,903  12,208,729  
       
Total liabilities    18,601,057  18,414,520  
  
Net assets    4,859,917  7,915,538  -   
  

Equity       
Issued capital  3  304,455,469  301,728,180  
Reserves    4,636,983  3,846,117  
Accumulated losses    (304,232,535)  (297,658,759)   
       
Total equity    4,859,917  7,915,538   
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  Issued    Retained  
Total equity   capital  Reserves  profits  

Consolidated  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2013  289,650,877  2,327,242  (276,231,797)  15,746,322   
         
Loss after income tax expense for the 
half-year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(7,828,215) 

 
(7,828,215)   

Other comprehensive income for the half-
year, net of tax 

 
- 

 
1,408,090 

 
- 

 
1,408,090   

         
Total comprehensive income for the half-
year 

 
- 

 
1,408,090 

 
(7,828,215) 

 
(6,420,125)   

         
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs 

 
5,517,155 

 
- 

 
- 

 
5,517,155 

Conversion of loan notes  335,514  -  -  335,514 
Employee shares – net value of services 
provided / (reversed on forfeiture) 

 
(6,520) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(6,520) 

Sale of forfeited shares  23,217  -  -  23,217 
         
Balance at 31 December 2013  295,520,243  3,735,332  (284,060,012)  15,195,563   
  
 
  Issued    Retained  

Total equity   capital  Reserves  profits  
Consolidated  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2014  301,728,180  3,846,117  (297,658,759)  7,915,538   
         
Loss after income tax benefit for the half-
year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(6,573,776) 

 
(6,573,776) 

Other comprehensive income for the half-
year, net of tax 

 
- 

 
790,866 

 
- 

 
790,866   

         
Total comprehensive income for the half-
year 

 
- 

 
790,866 

 
(6,573,776) 

 
(5,782,910) 

         
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs 

 
2,727,289 

 
- 

 
- 
 

2,727,289 
         
Balance at 31 December 2014  304,455,469  4,636,983  (304,232,535)  4,859,917 
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  Consolidated 

 
 31 December 

2014 
 31 December 

2013 
  $  $ 
     

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Cash flows from operating activities     
Receipts from customers (including GST)  4,606,943  4,460,820 
Payments to suppliers and employees (including GST)  (13,169,089)  (16,106,796) 
Interest paid  (636,347)  (301,245) 
Other receipts  -  385,269 
Income taxes refunded  4,099,585  4,022,582 
     
Net cash from operating activities  (5,098,908)    (7,539,370)   
  

Cash flows from investing activities     
Payments for plant and equipment  (280,404)  (148,924) 
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment  -  1,973,572 
     
Net cash from investing activities  (280,404)    1,824,648   
  

Cash flows from financing activities     
Issue of share capital (net of costs)  2,603,939  4,190,993 
Proceeds from sales of employee forfeited shares (net of costs)  -  23,217 
Proceeds from/(repayment of) convertible loans  584,429  252,151 
Proceeds from/(repayment of) finance lease  (154,796)  (172,192) 
     
Net cash from financing activities  3,033,572    4,294,169   
  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (2,345,740)    (1,420,553)   
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial half-year  5,310,161    10,010,131   
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  803,380  444,891 
     
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial half-year  3,767,801    9,034,469   
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Note 1. Significant accounting policies 
  
This consolidated financial report for the half-year ended 31 December 2014 (“the Half-Year Report”) has been prepared in 
accordance with AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting and the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
The Half-Year Report does not include all notes of the type normally included within the annual general purpose financial 
report and therefore cannot be expected to provide as full an understanding of the financial performance, financial position 
and financing and investing activities of the Group as the Group’s Annual Report. 
  
It is recommended that the Half-Year Report be read in conjunction with the Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2014 
and considered together with any public announcements made by the Company in accordance with the Group’s continuous 
disclosure obligations under ASX listing rules (a copy of which is available on the ASX website (www.asx.com.au)).   
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the half-years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
  
New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The Consolidated entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
  
Changes in accounting policies 
There have been no changes in accounting policies during the half-year ended 31 December 2014. 
  
Changes in accounting estimates 
There were no significant changes in accounting estimates for the half-year ended 31 December 2014. 
  
Basis of accounting 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate 
for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 
 
The company entered voluntary administration on 1 March 2015. The company finalised its Deed of Company Arrangement, 
on 4 October 2016, subsequent to 31 December 2014 but prior to the date that this report was issued.  The financial report 
for the year ended 31 December 2014 has been prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors believe that the going 
concern basis of accounting is appropriate.  
 
As a result of the company entering Voluntary Administration on 1 March 2015 and the replacement of the company 
personnel the current Directors have been unable to obtain access to the books and records to allow the preparation of this 
half-year report to comply with the disclosure requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001. The Directors have confirmed that for subsequent accounting periods the required policies and procedures will be 
instigated to ensure full compliance with all disclosure requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 
Act 2001. 
  
Historical cost convention 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, the 
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, investment 
properties, certain classes of property, plant and equipment and derivative financial instruments. 
  
Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Consolidated entity's accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 
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Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
  
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal 
the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 
  
Share-based payment transactions 
The Consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using either the Binomial or Black-
Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting 
estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity. 
  
Provision for impairment of receivables 
The provision for impairment of receivables assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The level of 
provision is assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience, the ageing of receivables, historical collection rates 
and specific knowledge of the individual debtor's financial position. 
  
Provision for impairment of inventories 
The provision for impairment of inventories assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The level of the 
provision is assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience, the ageing of inventories and other factors that 
affect inventory obsolescence. 
  
Fair value measurement hierarchy 
The Consolidated entity is required to classify all assets and liabilities, measured at fair value, using a three level hierarchy, 
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being: Level 1: Quoted prices 
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date; Level 2: 
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; 
and Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Considerable judgement is required to determine what is significant 
to fair value and therefore which category the asset or liability is placed in can be subjective. 
  
The fair value of assets and liabilities classified as level 3 is determined by the use of valuation models. These include 
discounted cash flow analysis or the use of observable inputs that require significant adjustments based on unobservable 
inputs. 
  
Estimation of useful lives of assets 
The Consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 
property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of 
technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives are 
less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will 
be written off or written down. 
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Warranty provision 
A provision for estimated warranty claims is created at the time of initial revenue recognition for all unit sale contracts. The 
adequacy of this provision is reviewed at each reporting date. The products being developed and sold by the Group remain 
relatively new and, as such, there remains a relative lack of historical experience in undertaking the service, maintenance 
and warranty obligations of the units. This has meant that management has had to make significant assumptions as to the 
future contract outcomes, from both a cost and technical perspective. 
 
Within the current reporting period the Group has predominately entered into service and support contracts of 10 years 
duration. The major variable cost assumption in relation to the service and maintenance of the units is the amount of labour 
time required. Whilst the major variable cost assumption in relation to the warranty provision remains the estimated life of 
the fuel cell stack (which will determine how many replacement stacks, if any, will be required during the warranty period), 
as the stack life increases it is possible that current cost assumptions related to the estimated life of major balance of plant 
components may prove to be inaccurate. 
 
If the amount of labour time required to service and maintain the units is greater than management's estimates then the 
amount of revenue that has been deferred, and recorded in the balance sheet, will not be sufficient to cover the future costs. 
 
If the number of stacks that are required to be replaced during the warranty period is greater than management's estimates 
then the warranty provision will need to be increased, resulting in an increased charge to the income statement. 
 
Likewise, if the number of major balance of plant components requiring replacement during the warranty period is greater 
than management's estimates then the warranty provision will need to be increased, resulting in an increased charge to the 
income statement. 
  

Note 3. Equity - issued capital 
  
 Consolidated 

 
 31 December 

2014 
 

30 June 2014 
 31 December 

2014 
 

30 June 2014 
  Shares  Shares  $  $ 
         
Ordinary shares - fully paid  2,874,684,944   2,507,761,565   304,455,469  301,728,180  
  
Movements in ordinary share capital 
  
Details  Date  Shares  Issue price  $ 
         
Balance  30 June 2014  2,507,761,565     301,728,180  
Placing and subscription  30 July 2014  21,290,200   $0.0100   212,902  
Placing and subscription  10 September 2014  20,165,667   $0.0090   181,491  
Placing and subscription  17 October 2014  33,022,857   $0.0070   231,160  
Placing and subscription  20 November 2014  21,442,500   $0.0060   128,655  
Placing and subscription  26 November 2014  196,672,080   $0.0090   1,770,049  
Equity plan issue to employees  17 December 2014  49,660,075   $0.0090   446,940  
Conversion of secured convertible loan notes  24 December 2014  24,670,000   $0.0050   123,350  
Costs of capital    -    (367,258) 
         
Balance  31 December 2014  2,874,684,944     304,455,469 
  
  
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the company 
does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 
  
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 
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Note 4. Equity - dividends 
  
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial half-year. 
 

Note 5. Contingent assets 
  
Prior to 2008 the company acquired a number of collateralized debt obligations (CDO's) as part of its cash management and 
reserve strategy for surplus funds. These investments held at “AAA” rating by Standard and Poor and as such were 
considered to be blue chip investment securities. In 2008 as a result of the financial crisis these investments defaulted and 
were provisioned to zero in the financial report. In 2015 the Administrators of the company entered into a funding agreement 
with LCP Capital Partners Pte Limited to participate in a class action against the rating agency Standard and Poor. The class 
action claims were considered highly speculative and may have been time barred given the time since the date of the original 
investments. The sum total of the company losses on these investments was $17.1 million. 
  
The litigation was settled on 17 May 2018 but the exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders 
being made in respect to the costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined we have classified the claim as a 
Contingent Asset. It is expected that the company will recover approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost 
orders and distributions, the timing of which has not yet been determined.  
 
 
Note 6. Events after the reporting period 
  
The following significant matters have occurred since the reporting date; 
  
Ceramic Fuel Cells Powder Limited was voluntarily dissolved on 21 July 2015 by request of its directors. 
  
On 9 December 2015 the company received a Research and Development Tax Incentive cash refund to the amount of 
$5,196,000.  
  
On 4 October 2016 the company entered into a Deed of Company Arrangement (DOCA), which allowed the recapitalisation 
of the company. 
 
 Under the terms of the DOCA, all available property of the company and a $585,000 contribution from Litigation Capital 

Partners were used to repay unsecured creditors, with the remainder of the debt being forgiven. 
 

 In accordance with the DOCA, the company issued 456,242,549 shares to raise $40,000. 
 

 The DOCA was completed and Alasdair Locke, Robert Kennett and Clifford Ashby resigned as Directors of the 
company. On the same day Damien Hodgkinson, Quentin Olde, Kyle Singleton and Song Qixiang were appointed as 
Directors of the company. 
 

On 19 September 2017 the company amended the loan agreement with Litigation Capital Partners to include the following 
amendments; 
 
 To increase the available facility to $935,000 by way of a facility extension of $350,000; 

 
 At the discretion of Litigation Capital Partners the loan may now be converted into shares at a rate of $0.0001 per share; 

and 
 

 The loan repayment date has been modified to only require repayment if the company issues new share capital. 
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Note 6. Events after the reporting period (continued) 
  
On 9 November 2017 Quentin Olde resigned as a Director of the company. 
  
On 17 May 2018 the company reached settlement in respect of their class action case against the ratings agency Standard 
and Poor’s. The exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders being made in respect to the 
costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined the claim has been classified as a Contingent Asset. It is expected 
that the company will recover approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost orders and distributions, the 
timing of which has not yet been determined. Further disclosure in respect of this has been provided in the financial report. 
  
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2014 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect the Consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the Consolidated entity's state of affairs in 
future financial years. 
  

Note 7. Earnings per share 
  
  Consolidated 

 
 31 December 

2014 
 31 December 

2013 
  $  $ 
     
Basic and diluted earnings per share  (0.24)  (0.48) 
 
 

 
 
 

 
  Number  Number 
Weighted average number of shares     
Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator in calculating basic 
and diluted earnings per share 

 2,735,316,874  1,593,375,364 

 
 
 

 

$ 

 

$ 
Earnings used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share     
Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited   (6,573,776)  (6,420,125)     
 
There were no results from discontinued operations, nor net losses attributable to outside equity interests, to be taken into 
account in determining earnings used 





 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REVIEW REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CERAMIC FUEL 
CELLS LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
 
Report on the Half-Year Financial Report 
We were engaged to review the accompanying half-year financial report consisting of Ceramic 
Fuel Cells Limited (the company) and the entities it controlled at the half-year’s end or from 
time to time during the half year (the consolidated entity), which comprises the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014, the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the half-year ended on that date, notes comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ 
declaration. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Half-Year Financial Report 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the half-year financial 
report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of the half-year financial report that gives a true and fair view and is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the financial report based on conducting 
our review in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Because of the matter 
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Conclusion paragraph, however, we were not able 
to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to provide a basis for our conclusion. 
 
Independence 
In conducting our review, we have complied with the independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001.   
 
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion  
The company entered Voluntary administration on 2 March 2015.  For the half-year ended 
31 December 2014  we have been unable to obtain access the books and records of the 
consolidated entity to a sufficient level to gain sufficient appropriate evidence over the 
statement of financial position for the half-year ended 31 December 2014 and the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of 
cash flows for the half-year then ended, and notes to the financial report, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies, and the declaration by those charged with 
governance.  As a result, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments were 
necessary in respect of the company’s financial position and performance. 
 
 



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REVIEW REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CERAMIC FUEL CELLS LIMITED 
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES (CONT) 
 
Disclaimer of Conclusion  
We were engaged to review the financial report of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited (the company and its 
subsidiaries (the consolidated entity)) , which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as 
at 31 December 2014, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the half-year then ended, and notes to 
the financial report, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the declaration by those 
charged with governance. 
 
We do not express a conclusion on the accompanying financial report of the consolidated entity because of 
the significance of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Conclusion section of our report, we 
have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to provide a basis for a conclusion on this half-
year financial report.  
 
 
 
 
William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136        
 
 
 
 
N. S. Benbow 
Director 
 
Date this 8th day of August 2018 
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as 
the 'consolidated entity') consisting of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited  (referred to hereafter as the 'company' or 'parent entity') 
and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2015. 
  

Directors 
The following persons were directors of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited  during the whole of the financial year and up to the date 
of this report, unless otherwise stated: 
  
Alasdair Locke - Chairman (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Damien Hodgkinson - Chairman (appointed 4 October 2016) 
Karl Foger - (appointed 1 August 2014, resigned 4 October 2016) 
Robert Kennett  (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Clifford Ashby (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Roman Dudenhausen (resigned 31 July 2014) 
Quentin Olda (appointed 4 October 2016, resigned 9 November 2017) 
Kyla Singleton (appointed 4 October 2016) 
Song Qixiang (appointed 4 October 2016) 
  

Dividends 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 
  

Review of operations 
The loss for the consolidated entity after providing for income tax amounted to $12,104,855 (30 June 2014: $21,426,961). 
  

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited made generators which used proprietary fuel cell technology to convert natural gas into electricity 
and heat for homes and small commercial buildings. On 1 March 2015 Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited entered into voluntary 
administration. The company also had four subsidiaries and the effect of these was as follows; 
  
Ceramic Fuel Cells (Europe) Limited (“CFCE”) was a management, sales and service entity which owns 100% of Ceramic 
Fuel Cells GmbH and Ceramic Fuel Cells B.V. CFCE and was placed into Creditors’ Voluntary Liquidation under UK law on 
16 March 2015.  
 
Ceramic Fuel Cells GmbH (“CFCG”) previously provided manufacturing operations from its production facility in Heinsberg, 
Germany along with hosting the European management, sales and services, and administration teams. CFCG was placed 
into Preliminary Administration under German law on 4 March 2015 and subsequently into Liquidation on 1 June 2015.  
 
Ceramic Fuel Cells B.V. (In Bankruptcy) (“CFCN”) employed two staff both of whom primarily serviced CFCG. On 27 March 
2015, a Preliminary Trustee was appointed to CFCN under Netherlands law and it was subsequently declared bankrupt on 
14 April 2015.  
 
Ceramic Fuel Cells Powder Limited (“Powder”) was a dormant company, its assets were sold on 17 December 2013. Powder 
was voluntarily dissolved subsequently to 30 June 2015. 
 
 
On 31 October 2014 the company received a Research and Development Tax Incentive cash refund to the amount of 
$4,099,585 
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On 26 May 2015, the company entered into a Framework Agreement on the Acquisitions of Assets (“Sale Agreement”) with 
CNPC Xing De Energy Share Limited (“CNPC”). The transaction was completed on 5 June 2015 and included the sale of 
CFCL’s intellectual property such as registered patents, registered trademarks, drawings and other physical and electronic 
records (“IP”), plant and equipment and inventory for a total purchase price of $8.75m. Accordingly, the limited operations 
which continued between this date and the date of voluntary administration ceased 
 
The sales proceeds were allocated $8,067,290 to IP and $682,710 to plant and equipment and Inventory. 
 
On 12 June 2015, the secured convertible noteholders received a priority distribution of $7,875,525. 
  
There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the financial year. 
  

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 
The following significant matters have occurred since the reporting date; 
  
Ceramic Fuel Cells Powder Limited was voluntarily dissolved on 21 July 2015 by request of its directors. 
  
On 9 December 2015 the company received a Research and Development Tax Incentive cash refund to the amount of 
$5,196,000 
  
On 4 October 2016 the company entered into a Deed of Company Arrangement (DOCA), which allowed the 
recapitalisation of the company. 
 
On 4 October 2016:  
 

• Under the terms of the DOCA, all available property of the company and a $585,000 contribution from Litigation 
Capital Partners Funding were used to repay unsecured creditors, with the remainder of the debt being forgiven. 

  
• In accordance with the DOCA, the Company issued 456,242,549 shares to raise $40,000. 

 
• The DOCA was completed and Alasdair Locke, Robert Kennett and Clifford Ashby resigned as Directors of the 

company.  On the same day Damien Hodgkinson, Quentin Olde, Kyle Singleton and Song Qixiang were appointed 
as Directors of the company. 

 
On 19 September 2017 the company amended the loan agreement with Litigation Capital Partners Funding to include the 
following amendments; 
 

• To increase the available facility to $735,000 by way of a facility extension of $150,000; 
 

• At the discretion of Litigation Capital Partners Funding the loan may now be converted into shares at a rate of 
$0.0001 per share; and 
 

• The loan repayment date has been modified to only require repayment if the company issues new share capital 
 

On 9 November 2017 Quentin Olde resigned as a Director of the company. 
 
On 17 May 2018 the company reached settlement in respect of their class action case against the ratings agency Standard 
and Poor’s.  The exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders being made in respect to the 
costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined the claim has been classified as a Contingent Asset. It is 
expected that the company will recovery approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost orders and 
distributions, the timing of which has not yet been determined Further disclosure in respect of this has been provided in the 
financial report 
  
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2015 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity's state of affairs in future financial 
years. 
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Likely developments and expected results of operations 
Following the completion of the DOCA on 4 October 2016 and the subsequent re-capitalisation the company plans to enter 
into a transaction to re-list on the ASX. It is likely that the nature of operations of this new entity will be substantially different 
to the past operations of the company. 
  

Basis of accounting of the financial report 
The company entered voluntary administration on 1 March 2015.  The company finalised its Deed of Company Arrangement, 
on 4 October 2016, subsequent to 30 June 2015 but prior to the date that this report was issued.   The financial report for 
the year ended 30 June 2015 has been prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors believe that the going concern 
basis of accounting is appropriate.  
  
As a result of the company entering Voluntary Administration on 1 March 2015 and the replacement of the company 
personnel the current Directors have been unable to obtain access to the books and records to allow the preparation of this 
annual report to comply with the disclosure requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001. 
The Directors have confirmed that for subsequent accounting periods the required policies and procedures will be instigated 
to ensure full compliance with all disclosure requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001. 
  

Environmental regulation 
The consolidated entity is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth or State 
law. 
  

Shares under option 
There were no unissued ordinary shares of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited under option outstanding at the date of this report. 
  

Shares issued on the exercise of options 
There were no ordinary shares of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited issued on the exercise of options during the year ended 30 
June 2015 and up to the date of this report. 
  

Indemnity and insurance of officers 
The company has indemnified the directors and executives of the company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director 
or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. 
  
During the financial year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and executives of the 
company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 
  

Indemnity and insurance of auditor 
The company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the 
company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 
  
During the financial year, the company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the company 
or any related entity. 
  

Proceedings on behalf of the company 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf 
of the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility 
on behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings, other than those matters described after the reporting date 
above. 
  

Auditor's independence declaration 
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on 
the following page. 
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Revenue     2,261,337   6,102,436  
Cost of sales    (3,147,571)  (8,426,115) 
Gross Profit    (886,234)  (2,323,679) 
       
Other revenue  3  974,945   530,907  
  
Expenses       
Sales & Marketing    (1,146,812)  (2,307,132) 
General & Administration    (3,210,487)  (13,550,070) 
Impairment reversal / (charge)    -    1,968,924  
Research & Product Development    (2,434,743)  (4,130,873) 
Manufacturing    (1,126,086)  (2,596,992) 
Other gains/(losses) - Foreign exchange    (1,350,428)  (1,954,819) 
Loss on disposal of assets    (11,143,264)  -   
Finance costs    (1,077,331)  (1,085,809) 
  
Loss before income tax benefit    (21,400,440)  (25,449,543) 
  
Income tax benefit  4  9,295,585   4,022,582  
  
Loss after income tax benefit for the year     (12,104,855)  (21,426,961) 
  

Other comprehensive income       
       
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss       
Foreign currency translation    -    230,214  
  
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax    -    230,214  
  
Total comprehensive income for the year     (12,104,855)  (21,196,747) 
  
    Cents  Cents 
       
Basic loss per share  30  (0.43)  (1.19) 
Diluted loss per share  30  (0.43)  (1.19) 
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Assets       
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents  5  898,809   5,310,161  
Trade and other receivables  6  -    464,519  
Inventories  7  -    10,431,490  
R&D receivable  8  5,196,800   -   
Other current assets  9  -    258,880  
Total current assets    6,095,609   16,465,050  
       
Non-current assets       
Plant and equipment  10  -    9,628,457  
Intangibles  11  -    1,000  
Deposits receivable  12  248,000   235,551  
Total non-current assets    248,000   9,865,008  
       
Total assets    6,343,609   26,330,058  
  

Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables  13  5,684,250   1,748,535  
Convertible notes  14  -    348,275  
Provisions  15  -    2,848,938  
Other current liabilities  16  -    1,274,918  
Total current liabilities    5,684,250   6,220,666  
       
Non-current liabilities       
Provisions  17  -    2,751,343  
Convertible notes  18  -    7,481,203  
Derivative financial instruments    -    744,699  
Other non-current liabilities  19  -    1,216,609  
Total non-current liabilities    -    12,193,854  
       
Total liabilities    5,684,250   18,414,520  
  
Net assets    659,359   7,915,538  
  

Equity       
Issued capital  20  305,173,641   301,728,180  
Reserves  21  5,249,332   3,846,117  
Accumulated losses  22  (309,763,614)  (297,658,759) 
       
Total equity    659,359   7,915,538  
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  Issued    Accumulated  
Total equity   capital  Reserves  losses  

Consolidated  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2013  289,650,877   2,327,242   (276,231,798)  15,746,321  
         
Loss after income tax benefit for the year  -  -  (21,426,961)  (21,426,961) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  230,214   -  230,214  
         
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  230,214   (21,426,961)  (21,196,747) 
         
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:         
Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs (note 20)  12,083,823   -  -  12,083,823  
Employee shares - value of employee services  (6,520)  -  -  (6,520) 
Loss transferred to income statement on disposal of foreign 
subsidiary's assets 

 
- 

 
1,288,661  

 
- 

 
1,288,661  

         
Balance at 30 June 2014  301,728,180   3,846,117   (297,658,759)  7,915,538  
  
  Issued    Accumulated  

Total equity   capital  Reserves  losses  
Consolidated  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2014  301,728,180   3,846,117   (297,658,759)  7,915,538  
         
Loss after income tax benefit for the year  -  -  (12,104,855)  (12,104,855) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -  -  -   
         
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  -  (12,104,855)  (12,104,855) 
         
Issue of new shares  3,445,461   -  -  3,445,461  
Vesting of share based payments  -  499,070   -  499,070  
Movements in FCTR as a result of loss of control of foreign 
operations. 

 
- 

 
904,145  

 
- 

 
904,145  

         
Balance at 30 June 2015  305,173,641   5,249,332   (309,763,614)  659,359  
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Cash flows from operating activities       
Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST)    5,308,108   7,710,776  
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST)    (12,248,546)  (30,452,605) 
Interest paid    (1,077,331)  -   
Grant receipts/(payments)    -    (28,490) 
Other receipts    -    492,795  
Income taxes refunded    -    4,022,582  
       
Net cash used in operating activities  29  (8,017,769)  (18,254,942) 
  

Cash flows from investing activities       
Payments for property, plant and equipment    -    (188,485) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment    -    1,973,572  
Proceeds from the sale of assets    8,750,000   -   
Decrease/(increase) in security deposits    -    14,189  
       
Net cash from investing activities    8,750,000   1,799,276  
  

Cash flows from financing activities       
Issue of share capital (net of costs)  20  2,731,942   12,677,790  
Repayment of convertible notes    (7,875,525)  -   
Proceeds from borrowings - convertible loan notes    -    612,684  
Convertible loan notes issue costs    -    (114,890) 
Interest paid on borrowings - convertible loan notes    -    (639,483) 
Repayment of borrowings - finance lease    -    (328,249) 
Interest paid on borrowings - finance lease    -    (64,010) 
Interest received    -    67,314  
Share issue transaction costs    -    (626,922) 
       
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities    (5,143,583)  11,584,234  
  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (4,411,352)  (4,871,432) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year    5,310,161   10,010,131  
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    -    171,462  
       
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year  5  898,809   5,310,161  
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Note 1. Significant accounting policies 
  
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
  
New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
  
Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have been early adopted.  
The adoption of these new standards has not had a material impact on the Group. 
  
Basis of preparation 
The company entered voluntary administration on 1 March 2015. The company finalised its Deed of Company Arrangement, 
on 4 October 2016, subsequent to 30 June 2015 but prior to the date that this report was issued.  The financial report for the 
year ended 30 June 2015 has been prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors believe that the going concern basis 
of accounting is appropriate.  
 
As a result of the company entering Voluntary Administration on 1 March 2015 and the replacement of the company 
personnel the current Directors have been unable to obtain access to the books and records to allow the preparation of this 
annual report to comply with the disclosure requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001. The Directors have confirmed that for subsequent accounting periods the required policies and procedures will be 
instigated to ensure full compliance with all disclosure requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 
Act 2001. 
  
Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity's accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 
  
Principles of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited 
('company' or 'parent entity') as at 30 June 2015 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Ceramic Fuel 
Cells Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the 'consolidated entity'. 
  
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity controls an entity 
when the consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 
  
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the consolidated entity. 
  
Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and 
non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. The 
consolidated entity recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained 
together with any gain or loss in profit or loss. 
  
Foreign currency translation 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited's functional and 
presentation currency. 
  
Foreign currency transactions 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at financial year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
profit or loss. 
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Foreign operations 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates at the reporting 
date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the average exchange 
rates, which approximate the rates at the dates of the transactions, for the period. All resulting foreign exchange differences 
are recognised in other comprehensive income through the foreign currency reserve in equity. 
  
The foreign currency reserve is recognised in profit or loss when it is known that the foreign operation or net investment will 
be disposed of. 
  
Revenue recognition 
Revenue is measure at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Over the reporting period the consolidated 
entity moved away from a single sales contract, containing multiple revenue elements, to a multi-contract approach whereby 
unit service and support is contracted separately to initial unit delivery, installation and commissioning.  
 
Contracts for ongoing unit support and maintenance are for defined periods of time at either fixed or variable rates. With unit 
installation being the purchaser's responsibility and commissioning being an immaterial component of the sale process, 
revenue in relation to initial unit supply is now recognised upon delivery. Revenue in relation to the ongoing unit support and 
maintenance continues to be recognised over the life of the service period, but on a time elapsed, rather than cost incurred, 
basis.  
 
Revenue from product development agreements are recognised as the relevant contractual service is provided.  
  
Interest 
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
  
Other revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 
  
Income tax 
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable.  
 
The consolidated entity has tax losses carried forward from its previous operations.  However, as a result of a significant 
change of ownership and change in business activities it is unlikely that these losses will be able to be utilised. 
 
The Research and Development Tax Incentive is recognised when the cash is received or when the right to receive payment 
is established.  
 
Current and non-current classification 
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. 
  
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the 
consolidated entity's normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 
12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used 
to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 
  
A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the consolidated entity's normal operating cycle; 
it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities 
are classified as non-current. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
  
Trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days. 
  
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are written 
off by reducing the carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is raised when there is objective 
evidence that the consolidated entity will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the 
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation and default or delinquency in payments (more than 60 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade 
receivable may be impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between the asset's carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to 
short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
  
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. 
  
Inventories 
Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a 'first in first 
out' basis. Cost comprises of direct materials and delivery costs, direct labour, import duties and other taxes, an appropriate 
proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure based on normal operating capacity, and, where applicable, transfers 
from cash flow hedging reserves in equity. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and 
discounts received or receivable. 
  
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
  
Plant and equipment 
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
  
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment 
(excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows: 
  
Plant and equipment  5 to 10 years 
Assets under finance lease  10 years 
Vehicles  6.7 years 
Furniture and fittings  5 years; and 
Computer equipment  3 years 
  
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 
  
Leasehold improvements and plant and equipment under lease are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or 
the estimated useful life of the assets, whichever is shorter. 
  
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the 
consolidated entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss. 
Any revaluation surplus reserve relating to the item disposed of is transferred directly to retained profits. 
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Intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair value at 
the date of the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Indefinite life intangible 
assets are not amortised and are subsequently measured at cost less any impairment. Finite life intangible assets are 
subsequently measured at cost less amortisation and any impairment. The gains or losses recognised in profit or loss arising 
from the derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the intangible asset. The method and useful lives of finite life intangible assets are reviewed annually. Changes in 
the expected pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively by changing the amortisation method or 
period. 
  
Intellectual property 
Significant costs associated with intellectual property are deferred and amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of 
their expected benefit, being their finite life of 10 years. 
  
Impairment of non-financial assets 
Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually 
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other non-
financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 
  
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to 
form a cash-generating unit. 
  
Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the financial 
year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
  
Borrowings 
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. They 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
  
Where there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, the 
loans or borrowings are classified as non-current. 
  
Finance costs 
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed in 
the period in which they are incurred. 
  
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past  
event, it is probable the consolidated entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 
If the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The 
increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
  
Employee benefits 
  
Short-term employee benefits 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled. 
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Other long-term employee benefits 
The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to 
the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows. 
  
Share-based payments 
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees, and have been provided to former directors, via the Ceramic 
Fuel Cells Limited Directors and Employee Benefits Plan. 
  
Shares 
  
The fair value at grant date of shares granted as remuneration to employees is as follows: for services already provided, the 
fair value is immediately expensed to the income statement; for services yet to be provided, the fair value is expensed as the 
service is provided. The share capital account is credited with the fair value of employee shares as the services are provided.  
  
Share options 
  
The fair value of options granted under the Equity Plan is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during which the employees 
become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value at grant date is determined using an option pricing model which 
takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the vesting and performance criteria, the non-tradable nature of 
the option, the share price at grant date, the expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and 
risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. The fair value of the options granted excludes the impact of any non-market 
vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales grown targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in 
assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. At each balance sheet date the entity 
revises its estimate of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. The employee benefit expense 
recognised each period takes into account the most recent estimate. Upon the exercise of the options the balance of the 
share-based payments reserve relating to those options is transferred to share capital and the proceeds, net of any directly 
attributable transaction costs, are credited to share capital. 
  
Fair value measurement 
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair 
value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principal 
market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 
  
Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and 
best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable 
inputs. 
  
Issued capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
  
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 
  
Loss per share 
  
Basic loss per share 
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited, excluding 
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 
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Diluted loss per share 
Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after 
income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted 
average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
  
Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense. 
  
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position. 
  
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
  
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority. 
  

Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
  
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal 
the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 
  
Warranty provision 
A provision for estimated warranty claims is created at the time of initial revenue recognition for all unit sale contracts. The 
adequacy of this provision is reviewed at each reporting date. The products being developed and sold by the consolidated 
entity remain relatively new and, as such, there remains a relative lack of historical experience in undertaking the service, 
maintenance and warranty obligations of the units. This has meant that management has had to make significant 
assumptions as to future contract outcomes, from both a cost and technical perspective. 
 
Within the current reporting period the consolidated entity has predominantly entered into service and support contracts of 
10 years duration. The major variable cost assumption in relation to the service and maintenance of the units is the amount 
of labour time required. Whilst the major variable assumption in relation to the warranty provision remains the estimated life 
of the fuel cell stack (which will determine how many replacement stacks, if any, will be required during the warranty period), 
as stack life increases it is possible that current cost assumptions related to the estimated life of major balance of plant 
components may prove to be inaccurate.  
 
If the amount of labour time required to service and maintain the units is greater than management's estimates then the 
amount of revenue that has been deferred, and recorded in the balance sheet, will not be sufficient to cover the future costs.  
 
If the number of stacks that are required to be replaced during the warranty period is greater than management's estimates 
then the warranty provision will need to be increased, resulting in an increased charge to the income statement.  
 
Likewise, if the number of major balance of plant components requiring replacement during the warranty period is greater 
than management's estimates then the warranty provision will need to be increased, resulting in an increased charge to the 
income statement.   
 
Contingent asset 
Management have elected to disclose a contingent asset in respect of a class action legal settlement entered into during 
2008.  Further disclosure is provided in Note 26.  Significant judgment is required in respect of this matter. 
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Note 3. Other revenue 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Net interest revenue  25,598   66,599  
Sundry income  949,347   464,308  
     
Other revenue  974,945   530,907  
  

Note 4. Income tax benefit 
  
The company has recorded income from the Australian Governments Research and Development Tax Incentive scheme for 
the year ended 30 June 2014 of $4,099,585 (cash received on 31 October 2014).  In addition, for the year ended 30 June 
2015 the R&D claim could be reliably measured and thus a benefit for this was recognised in the year of $5,196,000 (cash 
received on 9 December 2015). 
  

Note 5. Current assets - Cash and cash equivalents 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Cash at bank  898,809   5,310,161  
  

Note 6. Current assets - Trade and other receivables 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Trade receivables  -    918,750  
Less: Provision for impairment of receivables  -    (467,192) 
  -    451,558  
     
Other receivables  -    12,961  
     
  -    464,519  
  

Note 7. Current assets - Inventories 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Raw materials - at cost  -    4,270,018  
Work in progress - at cost  -    1,981,651  
Finished goods - at cost  -    4,179,821  
     
  -    10,431,490  
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Note 8. Current assets - R&D receivable 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Research and development tax incentive receivable  5,196,800   -   
  

Note 9. Current assets - Other current assets 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Prepayments  -    258,880  
  

Note 10. Non-current assets - Plant and equipment 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Machinery - at cost  -    23,729,363  
Less: Accumulated depreciation  -    (19,033,704) 
  -    4,695,659  
     
Leasehold improvements- at cost  -    8,833,562  
Less: Accumulated depreciation  -    (6,748,431) 
  -    2,085,131  
     
Leased assets  - at cost  -    4,427,596  
Less: Accumulated depreciation  -    (1,579,929) 
  -    2,847,667  
     
  -    9,628,457  
  
As a result of Ceramic Fuel Cells entering voluntary administration during the year all plant and equipment has been 
disposed of during the financial year. 

Note 11. Non-current assets - Intangibles 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Intellectual property - at cost  -    1,000  
  

Note 12. Non-current assets - Deposits receivable 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Security deposits  248,000   235,551  
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Note 13. Current liabilities - trade and other payables 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Trade payables  1,438,519   716,469  
Other payables  4,245,731   1,032,066  
     
  5,684,250   1,748,535  
  
Refer to note 24 for further information on financial instruments. 
  

Note 14. Current liabilities - Convertible notes 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Convertible note  -    348,275  
   
The convertible notes were repaid on 12 June 2015. 
  

Note 15. Current liabilities - provisions 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Provisions for employee benefits  -    1,536,575  
Provisions for product warranty  -    881,059  
Provisions for leased property reinstatement  -    431,304  
     
  -    2,848,938  
  

Note 16. Current liabilities - Other current liabilities 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Deferred revenue  -    1,274,918  
  

Note 17. Non-current liabilities - Provisions 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Provisions for employee benefits  -    39,244  
Provisions for product warranty  -    2,436,496  
Provisions for leased property reinstatement  -    107,745  
Provisions for operating leases  -    167,858  
     
  -    2,751,343  
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Note 18. Non-current liabilities - Convertible notes 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Finance lease  -    530,070  
Convertible loan notes (secured)  -    6,709,600  
Convertible loan notes (unsecured)  -    241,533  
     
  -    7,481,203  
  
The convertible notes were repaid on 12 June 2015. 
  
 

Note 19. Non-current liabilities - Other non-current liabilities 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Deferred revenue  -    1,216,609  
  

Note 20. Equity - issued capital 
  
 
 2015 2014  2015 2014 
 Shares Shares  $ $ 
      
Ordinary shares - fully paid 3,041,616,994  2,507,761,565   305,173,641  301,728,180  
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Movements in ordinary share capital 
  

Details 
 
Date 

 
Shares 

Issue 
price 

 
$ 

        
Balance  30 June 2013  1,591,941,620    289,650,877  
Conversion of secured convertible loan notes  24 October 2013  9,345,794  $0.0359   335,514  
Australia and New Zealand share purchase plan  30 December 2013  109,302,848  $0.0384   4,197,227  
Overseas offer  30 December 2013  41,134,062  $0.0384   1,608,973  
Investor Agreement  24 March 2014  9,800,000  $0.0000  - 
Investor Agreement  24 March 2014  10,000,000  $0.0190   186,077  
Investor Agreement  24 March 2014  13,406,250  $0.0160   218,914  
Placing and subscription  29 March 2014  672,000,000  $0.0090   6,089,738  
Investor Agreement  28 May 2014  21,677,900  $0.0100   216,404  
Investor Agreement  27 June 2014  29,153,091  $0.0110   323,172  
Add: Employee services provided    - $0.0000  (6,520) 
Add: Proceeds from sale of forfeited shares    - $0.0000  23,363  
Less: Transaction costs arising upon the issuing, and 
cancellation of shares 

 
 

 
- $0.0000 

 
(1,115,559) 

        
Balance  30 June 2014  2,507,761,565    301,728,180  
Placing and subscription  30 July 2014  21,290,200  $0.0100   212,902  
  10 September 2014  20,165,667  $0.0090   181,491  
Placing and subscription  17 October 2014  33,022,857  $0.0070   231,160  
Placing and subscription  20 November 2014  21,442,500  $0.0060   128,655  
Placing and subscription  26 November 2014  196,672,080  $0.0090   1,770,049  
Equity plan issue to employees  17 December 2014  49,660,075  $0.0090   446,940  
Conversion of secured convertible loan notes  24 December 2014  24,670,000  $0.0050   123,350  
Conversion of secured convertible loan notes  9 January 2015  12,448,600  $0.0050   62,243  
Placing and subscription  14 January 2015  25,600,600  $0.0050   128,003  
Conversion of secured convertible loan notes  21 January 2015  12,394,600  $0.0050   61,973  
Conversion of secured convertible loan notes  29 January 2015  50,923,000  $0.0040   203,692  
Conversion of secured convertible loan notes  5 February 2015  65,565,250  $0.0040   262,261  
Less: Transaction costs arising upon the issuing of 
shares 

 
 

 
- $0.0000 

 
(367,258) 

        
Balance  30 June 2015  3,041,616,994    305,173,641  
  
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the company 
does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 
  
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 
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Note 21. Equity - reserves 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Foreign currency reserve  -    (904,145) 
Share-based payments reserve  5,249,332   4,750,262  
     
  5,249,332   3,846,117  
  
Voluntary liquidation of foreign subsidiaries  
During the year all, foreign subsidiaries controlled by the company ceased operations as such the foreign currency translation 
reserve was reclassified to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
  

Note 22. Equity - accumulated losses 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year  (297,658,759)  (276,231,798) 
Loss after income tax benefit for the year  (12,104,855)  (21,426,961) 
     
Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year  (309,763,614)  (297,658,759) 
  

Note 23. Equity - dividends 
  
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 
  

Note 24. Financial instruments 
  
Financial risk management objectives 
  
Since the consolidated entity has ceased trading operations and entered voluntary administration in the prior year the 
consolidated entity is no longer exposed to foreign currency risk, price risk, interest rate risk or credit risk. Liquidity risk is 
documented below;  
  
Liquidity risk 
 
The company entered voluntary administration during the year as such the consolidated entity sold its intellectual property, 
plant and equipment and inventory for a total consideration of $8.75 million and subsequently repaid the convertible note 
holders.  The remaining creditors were paid in accordance with Deed of Company Arrangement which was Completed on 4 
October 2016.  Refer to Note 27 for more information. 
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Remaining contractual maturities 
The following tables detail the consolidated entity's remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the financial 
liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual 
maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position. 
  

 

 Weighted 
average 

interest rate 

 

1 year or less 

 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

 
Between 2 
and 5 years 

 

Over 5 years 

 Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

Consolidated - 2015  %  $  $  $  $  $ 
             
Non-derivatives             
Non-interest bearing             
Trade payables  -  5,684,242   -  -  -  5,684,242  
Total non-derivatives    5,684,242   -  -  -  5,684,242  
  
The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed 
above. 
  
Fair value of financial instruments 
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. 
  

Note 25. Remuneration of auditors 
  
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by William Buck, the auditor of the 
company, and its network firms: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Audit services - William Buck (PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia 2014)     
Audit of the financial statements  5,000   172,296  
Other assurance services  4,000   -   
     
  9,000   172,296  
     
Taxation services - William Buck (PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia 2014)     
Review of company income tax returns  -    61,400  
Other tax compliance and planning services  -    3,950  
     
  -    65,350  
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Note 26. Contingent assets 
  
Prior to 2008 the company acquired a number of collateralized debt obligations ("CDO's) as part of its cash management 
and reserve strategy for surplus funds. These investments held at “AAA” rating by Standard and Poor and as such were 
considered to be blue chip investment securities. In 2008 as a result of the financial crisis these investments defaulted and 
were provisioned to zero in the financial report. In 2015 the Administrators of the company entered into a funding agreement 
with Litigation Capital Partners Funding Pte. Ltd. to participate in a class action against the rating agency Standard and 
Poor. The class action claims were considered highly speculative and may have been time barred given the time since the 
date of the original investments. The sum total of the company losses on these investments was $17.1 million. 
  
The litigation was settled on 17 May 2018 but the exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court 
orders being made in respect to the costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined we have classified the claim 
as a Contingent Asset. It is expected that the company will recovery approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the 
final cost orders and distributions, the timing of which has not yet been determined.   

Note 27. Interests in subsidiaries 
  
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in note 1: 
  
    Ownership interest 
  Principal place of business /  2015  2014 
Name  Country of incorporation  %  % 
       
Parent entity 
 
Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited 

 

Australia 

 

 

 

 
Subsidiaries 
 
Ceramic Fuel Cells (Europe) Limited* 

 

United Kingdom 

 

- 

 

100%  
Ceramic Fuel Cells (Powder) Limited  United Kingdom  100%   100%  
Ceramic Fuel Cells GmbH**  Germany  -  100%  
Ceramic Fuel Cells B.V.***  Netherlands  -  100%  
  
*The subsidiary entered Creditors' Voluntary Liquidation on 16 March 2015. 
  
**The subsidiary entered preliminary administration on 4 March 2015 
  
***The subsidiary entered preliminary administration on 4 March 2015 
  

Note 28. Events after the reporting period 
  
The following significant matters have occurred since the reporting date; 
  
Ceramic Fuel Cells Powder Limited was voluntarily dissolved on 21 July 2015 by request of its directors. 
  
On 9 December 2015 the company received a Research and Development Tax Incentive cash refund to the amount of 
$5,196,000  
 
On 4 October 2016 the company entered into a Deed of Company Arrangement (DOCA), which allowed the 
recapitalisation of the company. 
 
On 4 October 2016:  
 

• Under the terms of the DOCA, all available property of the company and a $585,000 contribution from Litigation 
Capital Partners Funding were used to repay unsecured creditors, with the remainder of the debt being forgiven. 
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• In accordance with the DOCA, the company issued 456,242,549 shares to raise $40,000. 
 

• The DOCA was completed and Alasdair Locke, Robert Kennett and Clifford Ashby resigned as Directors of the 
company.  On the same day Damien Hodgkinson, Quentin Olde, Kyle Singleton and Song Qixiang were appointed 
as Directors of the company. 

 
On 19 September 2017 the company amended the loan agreement with Litigation Capital Partners Funding to include the 
following amendments; 
 

• To increase the available facility to $735,000 by way of a facility extension of $150,000; 
 

• At the discretion of Litigation Capital Partners Funding the loan may now be converted into shares at a rate of 
$0.0001 per share; and 
 

• The loan repayment date has been modified to only require repayment if the company issues new share capital 
 

On 9 November 2017 Quentin Olde resigned as a Director of the company. 
 
On 17 May 2018 the company reached settlement in respect of their class action case against the ratings agency Standard 
and Poor’s.  The exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders being made in respect to the 
costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined the claim has been classified as a Contingent Asset. It is 
expected that the company will recovery approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost orders and 
distributions, the timing of which has not yet been determined Further disclosure in respect of this has been provided in the 
financial report 
 
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2015 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity's state of affairs in future financial 
years. 
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Note 29. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash used in operating activities 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Loss after income tax benefit for the year  (12,104,855)  (21,426,961) 
     
Adjustments for:     
Depreciation and amortisation  -    1,629,121  
Foreign exchange impact of disposal of subsidiaries   904,145   4,874  
Impairment reversal  -    (1,968,924) 
Non-cash employee benefits expense: share-based payments  499,070   (14,017) 
Net (gain)/loss on the disposal of non-current assets  -    (2) 
Finance costs  -    1,085,103  
Foreign exchange loss/(gain) on disposal of assets of foreign subsidiary  -    1,288,661  
Interest revenue  -    (65,892) 
Loss on disposal of assets  11,143,264   -   
     
Change in operating assets and liabilities:     

Decrease in trade and other receivables  464,519   815,980  
Decrease/(increase) in inventories  494,481   (456,819) 
Decrease/(increase) in other current assets  (67,918)  552,437  
Increase in R&D receivable   (5,196,800)  -   
Increase in other non-current assets  (12,449)  -   
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  1,223,524   (342,691) 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions  (5,600,281)  699,893  
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities  2,727,058   (55,705) 
Decrease in deferred revenue  (2,491,527)  -   

     
Net cash used in operating activities  (8,017,769)  (18,254,942) 
  

Note 30. Loss per share 
  
  Consolidated 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
     
Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited   (12,104,855)  (21,426,961) 
  
 Number Number 
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per 
share 2,805,582,224  1,797,350,601  
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per 
share 2,805,582,224  1,797,350,601  
  
  Cents  Cents 
     
Basic earnings per share  (0.43)  (1.19) 
Diluted earnings per share  (0.43)  (1.19) 
  
 





 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE 
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF CERAMIC FUEL CELLS 
LIMITED 
 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief during the year ended 30 June 2015 
there have been: 

— no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

— no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
audit. 

 
 
 
 

William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136 

 
 
 
 

N. S. Benbow 
Director 
 
Melbourne, 19 June 2018 
 



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CERAMIC FUEL CELLS 
LIMITED  
 
Report on the Financial Report 
 
We were engaged to audit the accompanying financial report of Ceramic Fuel Cells 
Limited (the company and the entities it controlled at year’s end or from time to time during the 

financial year (the consolidated entity)), which comprises the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 30 June 2015, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies and the directors’ declaration. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 
 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 
and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  In Note 1, the 
directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on conducting our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Because of the matter described 
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraph, however, we were not able to obtain 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our opinion 
 
Independence 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001.   
 
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion  
The company entered Voluntary administration on 2 March 2015.  For the year ended 30 
June 2015  we have been unable to obtain access the books and records of the 
consolidated entity to a sufficient level to gain sufficient appropriate audit evidence over 
the statement of financial position for the year ended 30 June 2015 and the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial report, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, and the declaration by those charged with governance.  As a result, 
we were unable to determine whether any adjustments were necessary in respect of the 
company’s financial position and performance.



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CERAMIC FUEL CELLS LIMITED 
(CONT) 
 
Disclaimer of Opinion  
We were engaged to audit the financial report of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited (the company and its 
subsidiaries (the consolidated entity)) , which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as 
at 30 June 2015, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial report, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the declaration by those 
charged with governance. 
 
We do not express an opinion on the accompanying financial report of the consolidated entity because of 
the significance of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have 
not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on this 
financial report.  

 
 
 
 

William Buck Audit (VIC) Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136       

 
 
 
 

N.S Benbow 
Director 
 
Melbourne 19 June 2018 
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the Consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as 
the 'Consolidated entity') consisting of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited  (referred to hereafter as the 'company' or 'parent entity') 
and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the half-year ended 31 December 2015. 
  

Directors 
The following persons were directors of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited during the whole of the financial half-year and up to the 
date of this report, unless otherwise stated: 
  
Alasdair Locke (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Robert Kennett (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Roman Dudenhausen (resigned 31 July 2014) 
Clifford Ashby (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Quentin Olde (appointed 4 October 2016, resigned 9 November 2017) 
Karl Foger (appointed 1 August 2014, resigned 4 October 2016) 
Damien Hodgkinson (appointed 4 October 2016) 
Song Qixing (appointed 4 October 2016) 
Kyla Singleton (appointed 4 October 2016) 
  

Basis of accounting 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate 
for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 
 
The company entered voluntary administration on 1 March 2015. The company finalised its Deed of Company Arrangement, 
on 4 October 2016, subsequent to 31 December 2015 but prior to the date that this report was issued.  The half-year report 
for the 6 months ended 31 December 2015 has been prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors believe that the 
going concern basis of accounting is appropriate.  
 
As a result of the company entering Voluntary Administration on 1 March 2015 and the replacement of the company 
personnel the current Directors have been unable to obtain access to the books and records to allow the preparation of this 
half-year report to comply with the disclosure requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001. The Directors have confirmed that for subsequent accounting periods the required policies and procedures will be 
instigated to ensure full compliance with all disclosure requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 
Act 2001. 
  

Dividends 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial half-year. 
  

Review of operations 
The loss for the Consolidated entity after providing for income tax amounted to $728,745 (31 December 2014: loss of 
$6,573,776). 
  

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated entity during the financial half-year. 
 
Likely developments and expected results of operations 
Information on likely developments in the operations of the Consolidated entity and the expected results of operations have 
not been included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the 
Consolidated entity. 
 
Shares under option 
There were no unissued ordinary shares of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited under option outstanding at the date of this report. 
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Matters subsequent to the end of the financial half-year 
The following significant matters have occurred since the reporting date. 
  
On 4 October 2016 the company entered into a Deed of Company Arrangement (DOCA), which allowed the recapitalisation 
of the company. 
  
On 4 October 2016:  
 
 Under the terms of the DOCA, all available property of the company and a $585,000 contribution from Litigation Capital 

Partners were used to repay unsecured creditors, with the remainder of the debt being forgiven. 
 
 In accordance with the DOCA, the company issued 456,242,549 shares to raise $40,000. 
 
 The DOCA was completed and Alasdair Locke, Robert Kennett and Clifford Ashby resigned as Directors of the 

company. On the same day Damien Hodgkinson, Quentin Olde, Kyla Singleton and Song Qixiang were appointed as 
Directors of the company. 
 

On 19 September 2017 the company amended the loan agreement with Litigation Capital Partners to include the following 
amendments; 
 
 To increase the available facility to $935,000 by way of a facility extension of $350,000; 

 
 At the discretion of Litigation Capital Partners the loan may now be converted into shares at a rate of $0.0001 per share; 

and 
 

 The loan repayment date has been modified to only require repayment if the company issues new share capital. 
 

On 9 November 2017 Quentin Olde resigned as a Director of the company. 
  
On 17 May 2018 the company reached settlement in respect of their class action case against the ratings agency Standard 
and Poor’s. The exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders being made in respect to the 
costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined the claim has been classified as a Contingent Asset. It is expected 
that the company will recover approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost orders and distributions, the 
timing of which has not yet been determined. Further disclosure in respect of this has been provided in the financial report. 
  
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2015 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect the Consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the Consolidated entity's state of affairs in 
future financial years. 
 

Indemnity and insurance of officers 
The company has indemnified the directors and executives of the company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director 
or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. 
  
During the financial half-year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and executives of 
the company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 
  

Indemnity and insurance of auditor 
The company has not, during or since the end of the financial half-year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the 
company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 
  
During the financial half-year, the company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the 
company or any related entity. 
  





 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE 
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF CERAMIC FUEL CELLS LIMITED 
 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief during the half-year ended 31 
December 2015 there have been: 

— no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the review; and 

— no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
review. 

 
 
 
 
William Buck Audit [Vic] Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136 
 
 
 
 
N. S. Benbow 
Director 
 
Dated this 8th day of August 2018 
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 31 December 

2014 
  $  $ 
     

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes 
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Revenue  33,711  4,696,647  
  
Expenses     
Cost of sales  -  (2,839,075) 
Manufacturing  -  (915,522) 
Research & product development  -  (2,141,562) 
Marketing  -  (969,563) 
Other gains / (losses) - foreign exchange  -  12,514  
General & administration  (749,404)  (7,880,453) 
Finance costs  (13,052)  (636,347) 
  
Loss before income tax benefit  (728,745)  (10,673,361)   
  
Income tax benefit  -  4,099,585  
  
Loss after income tax benefit for the half-year attributable to the owners of Ceramic 
Fuel Cells Limited  

 
(728,745) 

 
(6,573,776)  

  

Other comprehensive income for the half-year, net of tax  -    790,866   
  
Total comprehensive income for the half-year attributable to the owners of Ceramic 
Fuel Cells Limited  

 
(728,745) 

 
(5,782,910)   

  
 
 
  Cents  Cents 
Earnings per share for loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company     
Basic and diluted earnings per share  (0.03)  (0.24) 
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Note 
 31 December 

2015 
 
30 June 2015 

    $  $ 
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Assets       
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents    1,768,146  898,809 
Trade and other receivables    106,629  - 
R&D receivable    -  5,196,800 
Total current assets    1,874,775  6,095,609 
       
Non-current assets       
Deposits    248,000  248,000 
Total non-current assets    248,000  248,000 
       
Total assets    2,122,775  6,343,609 
  

Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables    2,192,161  5,684,250 
Total current liabilities    2,192,161  5,684,250 
       
Non-current liabilities       
Total non-current liabilities    -  - 
       
Total liabilities    2,192,161  5,684,250 
  
Net deficiency of assets    (69,386)  659,359 -   
  

Equity       
Issued capital  3  305,173,641  305,173,641 
Reserves    5,249,332  5,249,332 
Accumulated losses    (310,492,359)  (309,763,614) 
       
Total equity    (69,386)  659,359 
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  Issued    Retained  
Total equity   capital  Reserves  profits  

Consolidated  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2014  301,728,180  3,846,117  (297,658,759)  7,915,538   
         
Loss after income tax benefit for the half-
year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(6,573,776) 

 
(6,573,776) 

Other comprehensive income for the half-
year, net of tax 

 
- 

 
790,866 

 
- 

 
790,866   

         
Total comprehensive income for the half-
year 

 
- 

 
790,866 

 
(6,573,776) 

 
(5,782,910) 

         
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs 

 
2,727,289 

 
- 

 
- 

 
2,727,289 

         
Balance at 31 December 2014  304,455,469  4,636,983  (304,232,535)  4,859,917 
  
 
  Issued    Retained  

Total equity   capital  Reserves  profits  
Consolidated  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2015  305,173,641  5,249,332  (309,763,614)  659,359 
         
Loss after income tax benefit for the half-
year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(728,745) 

 
(728,745) 

         
Total comprehensive income for the half-
year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(728,745) 

 
(728,745) 

         
         
Balance at 31 December 2015  305,173,641  5,249,332  (310,492,359)  (69,386) 
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 31 December 

2015 
 31 December 

2014 
  $  $ 
     

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Cash flows from operating activities     
Receipts from customers (including GST)  33,711  4,606,943 
Payments to suppliers and employees (including GST)  (4,348,122)  (13,169,089) 
Interest paid  (13,052)  (636,347) 
Income taxes refunded  5,196,800  4,099,585 
     
Net cash from operating activities  869,337  (5,098,908)   
  

Cash flows from investing activities     
Payments for plant and equipment  -  (280,404) 
     
Net cash from investing activities  -  (280,404)   
  

Cash flows from financing activities     
Issue of share capital (net of costs)  -  2,603,939 
Proceeds from/(repayment of) convertible loans  -  584,429 
Proceeds from/(repayment of) finance lease  -  (154,796) 
     
Net cash from financing activities  -  3,033,572   
  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  869,337  (2,345,740)   
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial half-year  898,809  5,310,161   
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  -  803,380 
     
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial half-year  1,768,146  3,767,801   
  
  



Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited  
Notes to the financial statements 
For the half-year ended 31 December 2015  
 

  

  
9 

Note 1. Significant accounting policies 
  
This Consolidated financial report for the half-year ended 31 December 2015 (“the Half-Year Report”) has been prepared in 
accordance with AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting and the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
The Half-Year Report does not include all notes of the type normally included within the annual general purpose financial 
report and therefore cannot be expected to provide as full an understanding of the financial performance, financial position 
and financing and investing activities of the Group as the Group’s Annual Report. 
  
It is recommended that the Half-Year Report be read in conjunction with the Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2015 
and considered together with any public announcements made by the Company in accordance with the Group’s continuous 
disclosure obligations under ASX listing rules (a copy of which is available on the ASX website (www.asx.com.au)).   
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the half-years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
  
New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The Consolidated entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
  
Changes in accounting policies 
There have been no changes in accounting policies during the half-year ended 31 December 2015. 
  
Changes in accounting estimates 
There were no significant changes in accounting estimates for the half-year ended 31 December 2015. 
  
Basis of accounting 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate 
for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 
 
The company entered voluntary administration on 1 March 2015. The company finalised its Deed of Company Arrangement, 
on 4 October 2016, subsequent to 31 December 2015 but prior to the date that this report was issued.  The financial report 
for the year ended 31 December 2015 has been prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors believe that the going 
concern basis of accounting is appropriate.  
 
As a result of the company entering Voluntary Administration on 1 March 2015 and the replacement of the company 
personnel the current Directors have been unable to obtain access to the books and records to allow the preparation of this 
half-year report to comply with the disclosure requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001. The Directors have confirmed that for subsequent accounting periods the required policies and procedures will be 
instigated to ensure full compliance with all disclosure requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 
Act 2001. 
 

Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
  
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal 
the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 
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Share-based payment transactions 
The Consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using either the Binomial or Black-
Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting 
estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity. 
  
Provision for impairment of receivables 
The provision for impairment of receivables assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The level of 
provision is assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience, the ageing of receivables, historical collection rates 
and specific knowledge of the individual debtor's financial position. 
  
Provision for impairment of inventories 
The provision for impairment of inventories assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The level of the 
provision is assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience, the ageing of inventories and other factors that 
affect inventory obsolescence. 
  
Fair value measurement hierarchy 
The Consolidated entity is required to classify all assets and liabilities, measured at fair value, using a three level hierarchy, 
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being: Level 1: Quoted prices 
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date; Level 2: 
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; 
and Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Considerable judgement is required to determine what is significant 
to fair value and therefore which category the asset or liability is placed in can be subjective. 
  
The fair value of assets and liabilities classified as level 3 is determined by the use of valuation models. These include 
discounted cash flow analysis or the use of observable inputs that require significant adjustments based on unobservable 
inputs. 
  
Estimation of useful lives of assets 
The Consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 
property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of 
technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives are 
less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will 
be written off or written down. 
 
Warranty provision 
A provision for estimated warranty claims is created at the time of initial revenue recognition for all unit sale contracts. The 
adequacy of this provision is reviewed at each reporting date. The products being developed and sold by the Group remain 
relatively new and, as such, there remains a relative lack of historical experience in undertaking the service, maintenance 
and warranty obligations of the units. This has meant that management has had to make significant assumptions as to the 
future contract outcomes, from both a cost and technical perspective. 
 
Within the current reporting period the Group has predominately entered into service and support contracts of 10 years 
duration. The major variable cost assumption in relation to the service and maintenance of the units is the amount of labour 
time required. Whilst the major variable cost assumption in relation to the warranty provision remains the estimated life of 
the fuel cell stack (which will determine how many replacement stacks, if any, will be required during the warranty period), 
as the stack life increases it is possible that current cost assumptions related to the estimated life of major balance of plant 
components may prove to be inaccurate. 
If the amount of labour time required to service and maintain the units is greater than management's estimates then the 
amount of revenue that has been deferred, and recorded in the balance sheet, will not be sufficient to cover the future costs. 
 
If the number of stacks that are required to be replaced during the warranty period is greater than management's estimates 
then the warranty provision will need to be increased, resulting in an increased charge to the income statement. 
 
Likewise, if the number of major balance of plant components requiring replacement during the warranty period is greater 
than management's estimates then the warranty provision will need to be increased, resulting in an increased charge to the 
income statement. 
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Note 3. Equity - issued capital 
  
 Consolidated 

 
 31 December 

2015 
 

30 June 2015 
 31 December 

2015 
 

30 June 2015 
  Shares  Shares  $  $ 
         
Ordinary shares - fully paid  3,041,616,994   3,041,616,994   305,173,641   305,173,641  
  
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the company 
does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 
  
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 
  

Note 4. Equity - dividends 
  
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial half-year. 
  

Note 5. Contingent assets 
  
Prior to 2008 the company acquired a number of collateralized debt obligations (CDO's) as part of its cash management and 
reserve strategy for surplus funds. These investments held at “AAA” rating by Standard and Poor and as such were 
considered to be blue chip investment securities. In 2008 as a result of the financial crisis these investments defaulted and 
were provisioned to zero in the financial report. In 2015 the Administrators of the company entered into a funding agreement 
with LCP Capital Partners Pte Limited to participate in a class action against the rating agency Standard and Poor. The class 
action claims were considered highly speculative and may have been time barred given the time since the date of the original 
investments. The sum total of the company losses on these investments was $17.1 million. 
  
The litigation was settled on 17 May 2018 but the exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders 
being made in respect to the costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined we have classified the claim as a 
Contingent Asset. It is expected that the company will recover approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost 
orders and distributions, the timing of which has not yet been determined.  
 
 
Note 6. Events after the reporting period 
  
The following significant matters have occurred since the reporting date; 
   
On 4 October 2016 the company entered into a Deed of Company Arrangement (DOCA), which allowed the recapitalisation 
of the company. 
 
 Under the terms of the DOCA, all available property of the company and a $585,000 contribution from Litigation Capital 

Partners were used to repay unsecured creditors, with the remainder of the debt being forgiven. 
 

 In accordance with the DOCA, the company issued 456,242,549 shares to raise $40,000. 
 

 The DOCA was completed and Alasdair Locke, Robert Kennett and Clifford Ashby resigned as Directors of the 
company. On the same day Damien Hodgkinson, Quentin Olde, Kyle Singleton and Song Qixiang were appointed as 
Directors of the company. 
 

On 19 September 2017 the company amended the loan agreement with Litigation Capital Partners to include the following 
amendments: 
 
 To increase the available facility to $935,000 by way of a facility extension of $350,000; 
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 At the discretion of Litigation Capital Partners the loan may now be converted into shares at a rate of $0.0001 per share; 
and 

 
 The loan repayment date has been modified to only require repayment if the company issues new share capital. 

 
On 9 November 2017 Quentin Olde resigned as a Director of the company. 
  
On 17 May 2018 the company reached settlement in respect of their class action case against the ratings agency Standard 
and Poor’s. The exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders being made in respect to the 
costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined the claim has been classified as a Contingent Asset. It is expected 
that the company will recover approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost orders and distributions, the 
timing of which has not yet been determined. Further disclosure in respect of this has been provided in the financial report.  
  
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2015 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect the Consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the Consolidated entity's state of affairs in 
future financial years. 
  

Note 7. Earnings per share 
  
  Consolidated 

 
 31 December 

2015 
 31 December 

2014 
  $  $ 
     
Basic and diluted earnings per share  (0.03)  (0.24) 
 
 

 
 
 

 
  Number  Number 
Weighted average number of shares     
Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator in calculating basic 
and diluted earnings per share 

 2,805,582,224  2,735,316,874 

 
 
 

 

$ 

 

$ 
Earnings used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share     
Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited   (728,754)  (6,573,776) 
 
There were no results from discontinued operations, nor net losses attributable to outside equity interests, to be taken into 
account in determining earnings used 





 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REVIEW REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CERAMIC FUEL 
CELLS LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
 
Report on the Half-Year Financial Report 
We were engaged to review the accompanying half-year financial report consisting of Ceramic 
Fuel Cells Limited (the company) and the entities it controlled at the half-year’s end or from 
time to time during the half year (the consolidated entity), which comprises the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the half-year ended on that date, notes comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ 
declaration. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Half-Year Financial Report 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the half-year financial 
report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of the half-year financial report that gives a true and fair view and is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the financial report based on conducting 
our review in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Because of the matter 
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Conclusion paragraph, however, we were not able 
to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to provide a basis for our conclusion. 
 
Independence 
In conducting our review, we have complied with the independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001.   
 
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion  
The company entered Voluntary administration on 2 March 2015.  For the half-year ended 
31 December 2015  we have been unable to obtain access the books and records of the 
consolidated entity to a sufficient level to gain sufficient appropriate evidence over the 
statement of financial position for the half-year ended 31 December 2015 and the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of 
cash flows for the half-year then ended, and notes to the financial report, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies, and the declaration by those charged with 
governance.  As a result, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments were 
necessary in respect of the company’s financial position and performance. 
 
 



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REVIEW REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CERAMIC FUEL CELLS LIMITED 
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES (CONT) 
 
Disclaimer of Conclusion  
We were engaged to review the financial report of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited (the company and its 
subsidiaries (the consolidated entity)) , which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as 
at 31 December 2015, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the half-year then ended, and notes to 
the financial report, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the declaration by those 
charged with governance. 
 
We do not express a conclusion on the accompanying financial report of the consolidated entity because of 
the significance of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Conclusion section of our report, we 
have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to provide a basis for a conclusion on this half-
year financial report.  
 
 
 
 
 
William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136        
 
 
 
 
N. S. Benbow 
Director 
 
Date the 8th day of August 2018 
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as 
the 'consolidated entity') consisting of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited (referred to hereafter as the 'company' or 'parent entity') 
and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2016. 

Directors 
The following persons were directors of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the date 
of this report, unless otherwise stated: 
  
Alasdair Locke - Chairman (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Damien Hodgkinson - Chairman (appointed 4 October 2016) 
Karl Foger - (appointed 1 August 2014, resigned 4 October 2016) 
Robert Kennett  (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Clifford Ashby (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Quentin Olda (appointed 4 October 2016, resigned 9 November 2017) 
Kyla Singleton (appointed 4 October 2016) 
Song Qixiang (appointed 4 October 2016) 

 

Dividends 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 

Review of operations 
The loss for the consolidated entity after providing for income tax amounted to $1,164,020 (30 June 2015: $12,104,855). 
  
The company continued to operate in voluntary administration for the entire financial year. 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
Ceramic Fuel Cells Powder Limited was voluntarily dissolved on 21 July 2015 by request of its directors. 
  
There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the financial year. 

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 
The following significant matters have occurred since the reporting date. On 4 October 2016 the company entered into a 
Deed of Company Arrangement (DOCA), which allowed the recapitalisation of the company. 
 
On 4 October 2016:  
 

• Under the terms of the DOCA, all available property of the company and a $585,000 contribution from Litigation 
Capital Partners Funding were used to repay unsecured creditors, with the remainder of the debt being forgiven. 

 
• In accordance with the DOCA, the company issued 456,242,549 shares to raise $40,000. 

 
• The DOCA was completed and Alasdair Locke, Robert Kennett and Clifford Ashby resigned as Directors of the 

company.  On the same day Damien Hodgkinson, Quentin Olde, Kyle Singleton and Song Qixiang were appointed 
as Directors of the company. 

 
On 19 September 2017 the company amended the loan agreement with Litigation Capital Partners Funding to include the 
following amendments; 
 

• To increase the available facility to $735,000 by way of a facility extension of $150,000; 
 

• At the discretion of Litigation Capital Partners Funding the loan may now be converted into shares at a rate of 
$0.0001 per share; and 
 

• The loan repayment date has been modified to only require repayment if the company issues new share capital 
 

On 9 November 2017 Quentin Olde resigned as a Director of the Company. 
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On 17 May 2018 the company reached settlement in respect of their class action case against the ratings agency Standard 
and Poor’s.  The exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders being made in respect to the 
costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined the claim has been classified as a Contingent Asset. It is 
expected that the company will recovery approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost orders and 
distributions, the timing of which has not yet been determined Further disclosure in respect of this has been provided in the 
financial report 
  
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2016 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity's state of affairs in future financial 
years. 
  

Likely developments and expected results of operations 
Following the completion of the DOCA and the subsequent recapitalisation the company plans to re-list on the ASX. It is 
likely that the nature of operations of this new entity will be substantially difference to the past operations of the company. 
  

Environmental regulation 
The consolidated entity is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth or State 
law. 
  

Information on directors 
Information on the Directors is as follows 
  
Name:  Damien Hodgkinson 
Title:  Chairman 
Age:  49 
Qualifications:  Bachelor of Commerce from University of Melbourne 

 
Experience and expertise:  Mr Hodgkinson is a member of the Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand, 

and the Managing Director of DEM Asia Group.  
 
He has worked in Australia, the Asia Pacific and South America on complex cross 
border insolvencies and represented lenders in the realisation of offshore assets in 
North American multi-national companies including Akai Electric (Japan), Johnson and 
Evinrude (USA), and HIH Winterthur (Hong Kong).  
 
After returning to Australia in 2004, Mr Hodgkinson joined KPMG as a partner in their 
corporate restructuring practice in Sydney where he represented corporate debtors in 
the renegotiation of primary lending facilities including Lehmans, Hedley Group, 
Babcock and Brown Limited, Colorado Limited, Retail Adventures Pty Limited, BBY 
Limited and ABC Learning Centres Limited.  
 
Mr Hodgkinson is currently a director of APP Securities Pty Limited, an Australian 
stockbroking and investment banking firm servicing Asia Pacific. 

  
Name:  Kyla Singleton  
Title:  Non-Executive Director 
Age:  34 
Qualifications:  Bachelors degree in Finance/Accounting from the University of Adelaide 

Bachelor of Law from Queensland University of Technology. 
   

Experience and expertise:  Kyla Singleton is a solicitor with over 10 years experience in commercial litigation, 
working with clients in many fields including large corporate and government bodies.   
 
In 2015, Kyla commenced working in litigation funding, managing funding of large 
complex shareholder and other class actions, insolvency and general commercial 
litigation matters. 
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Name:  Song Qixiang  
Title:  Non-Executive Director 
Age:  38 
Qualifications:  Bachelor of Business Administration from University of South Australia  

Master of Applied Finance from Macquarie University. 
 

Experience and expertise:  Ms Song is currently a Nominee Director and company Secretary for a number of 
investment holding companies in Singapore. She has over 17 years of experience 
working in finance, accounting, corporate secretary, financial modelling, and 
commodities.  
 
Her previous role was Finance Director and company secretary for an investment 
banking firm where she was responsible for all aspects of financial matters including 
overseeing statutory accounting, management reporting and compliance with local 
regulatory authorities.  
 
Ms Song’s earlier work involved financial modelling and analysis of various bids for 
potential projects, participation and conducting financial and legal due diligence on 
acquisition deals as well as preparation of investment materials. 

  

Shares under option 
There were no unissued ordinary shares of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited under option outstanding at the date of this report. 
  

Shares issued on the exercise of options 
There were no ordinary shares of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited issued on the exercise of options during the year ended 30 
June 2016 and up to the date of this report. 
  

Indemnity and insurance of officers 
The company has indemnified the directors and executives of the company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director 
or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. 
  
During the financial year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and executives of the 
company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 
  

Indemnity and insurance of auditor 
The company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the 
company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 
  
During the financial year, the company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the company 
or any related entity. 
  

Proceedings on behalf of the company 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf 
of the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility 
on behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings. 
  

Auditor's independence declaration 
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 
immediately after this directors' report. 
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Revenue     -    2,261,337  
Cost of sales,    -    (3,147,571) 
Gross Profit    -    (886,234) 
       
Other revenue  3  33,711   974,945  
  
Expenses       
Sales & Marketing    -    (1,146,812) 
General & Administration    (1,178,295)  (3,210,487) 
Research & Product Development    -    (2,434,743) 
Manufacturing    -    (1,126,086) 
Other gains/(losses) - Foreign exchange    -    (1,350,428) 
Loss on disposal of assets    -    (11,143,264) 
Finance costs    (19,436)  (1,077,331) 
  
Loss before income tax benefit    (1,164,020)  (21,400,440) 
  
Income tax benefit    -    9,295,585  
  
Loss after income tax benefit for the year     (1,164,020)  (12,104,855) 
  

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax    -    -   
  
Total comprehensive income for the year     (1,164,020)  (12,104,855) 
  
    Cents  Cents 
       
Basic earnings per share  15  (0.04)  (0.43) 
Diluted earnings per share  15  (0.04)  (0.43) 
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Assets       
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents  4  563,675   898,809  
GST receivable    70,700   -   
Deposits receivable    248,000   - 
R&D receivable    -    5,196,800  
Total current assets    882,375  6,095,609  
       
Non-current assets       
Deposits receivable    -  248,000  
Total non-current assets    -  248,000  
       
Total assets    882,375   6,343,609  
  

Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables  5  1,387,036   5,684,250  
Total current liabilities    1,387,036   5,684,250  
       
Total liabilities    1,387,036   5,684,250  
  
Net assets/(liabilities)    (504,661)  659,359  
  

Equity       
Issued capital  6  305,173,641   305,173,641  
Reserves    5,249,332   5,249,332  
Accumulated losses    (310,927,634)  (309,763,614) 
       
Total equity/(deficiency)    (504,661)  659,359  
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  Issued    Accumulated   
Total equity   capital  Reserves  losses  

Consolidated  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2014  301,728,180   3,846,117   (297,658,759)  7,915,538  
         
Loss after income tax benefit for the year  -  -  (12,104,855)  (12,104,855) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -  -  -   
         
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  -  (12,104,855)  (12,104,855) 
         
Issue of new shares  3,445,461   -  -  3,445,461  
Vesting of share based payments  -  499,070   -  499,070  
Movements in FCTR as a result of loss of control of foreign 
operations 

 
- 

 
904,145  

 
- 

 
904,145  

         
Balance at 30 June 2015  305,173,641   5,249,332   (309,763,614)  659,359  
  
  Issued    Accumulated   Total 

deficiency in 
equity  

 
capital 

 
Reserves 

 
losses 

 

Consolidated  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2015  305,173,641   5,249,332   (309,763,614)  659,359  
         
Loss after income tax expense for the year  -  -  (1,164,020)  (1,164,020) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -  -  -   
         
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  -  (1,164,020)  (1,164,020) 
         
Balance at 30 June 2016  305,173,641   5,249,332   (310,927,634)  (504,661) 
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Cash flows from operating activities       
Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST)    5,230,511   5,308,108  
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST)    (5,545,825)  (12,248,546) 
Interest paid    (19,820)  (1,077,331) 
       
Net cash used in operating activities  14  (335,134)  (8,017,769) 
  

Cash flows from investing activities       
Proceeds from the sale of assets    -    8,750,000  
       
Net cash from investing activities    -    8,750,000  
  

Cash flows from financing activities       
Issue of share capital (net of costs)  6  -    2,731,942  
Repayment of convertible notes    -    (7,875,525) 
       
Net cash used in financing activities    -    (5,143,583) 
  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (335,134)  (4,411,352) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year    898,809   5,310,161  
       
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year  4  563,675   898,809  
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Note 1. Significant accounting policies 
  
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
  
Basis of preparation 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate 
for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 
 
New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
  
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. 
 
 
Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity's accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 
  
Principles of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited 
('company' or 'parent entity') as at 30 June 2016 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Ceramic Fuel 
Cells Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the 'consolidated entity'. 
  
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity controls an entity 
when the consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 
  
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the consolidated entity. 
  
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in ownership interest, 
without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration 
transferred and the book value of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable 
to the parent. 
  
Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and 
non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. The 
consolidated entity recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained 
together with any gain or loss in profit or loss. 
 
  
Other revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 
  
Income tax 
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable.  
 
The consolidated entity has tax losses carried forward from its previous operations.  However, as a result of a significant 
change of ownership and change in business activities it is unlikely that these losses will be able to be utilised. 
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The Research and Development Tax Incentive is recognised when the cash is received or when the right to receive payment 
is established. 
  
Current and non-current classification 
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. 
  
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the 
consolidated entity's normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 
12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used 
to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 
  
A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the consolidated entity's normal operating cycle; 
it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities 
are classified as non-current. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 
  
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
  
Trade and other receivables 
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. 
  
Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the financial 
year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
  
Share-based payments 
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees, and have been provided to former directors, via the Ceramic 
Fuel Cells Limited Directors and Employee Benefits Plan. 
  
Shares 
  
The fair value at grant date of shares granted as remuneration to employees is as follows: for services already provided, the 
fair value is immediately expensed to the income statement; for services yet to be provided, the fair value is expensed as the 
service is provided. The share capital account is credited with the fair value of employee shares as the services are provided.  
 
Fair value measurement 
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair 
value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principal 
market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 
  
Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and 
best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable 
inputs. 
  
Issued capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
  
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 
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Loss per share 
  
Basic Loss per share 
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to the owners of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited, excluding any 
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 
  
Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense. 
  
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position. 
  
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
  
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority. 
  

Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
  
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal 
the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 
  
Contingent asset 
Management have elected to disclose a contingent asset in respect of a class action legal settlement entered into during 
2008. Further disclosure is provided in Note 10. Significant judgment is required in respect of this matter. 

Note 3. Other revenue 
  
  Consolidated 
  2016  2015 
  $  $ 
     
Net interest revenue  -    25,598  
Sundry income  33,711   949,347  
     
Other revenue  33,711   974,945  
  

Note 4. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents 
  
   
  2016  2015 
  $  $ 
     
Cash on hand*  563,675   898,809  
  
*At both 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015 cash was restricted as the bank accounts were controlled by the administrator. 
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Note 5. Current liabilities - trade and other payables 
  
   
  2016  2015 
  $  $ 
     
Trade payables  1,360,396   1,438,519  
Other payables  26,640   4,245,731  
     
  1,387,036   5,684,250  
  
Refer to note 8 for further information on financial instruments. 
  

Note 6. Equity - issued capital 
  
 
 2016 2015  2016  2015 
 Shares Shares  $  $ 
       
Ordinary shares - fully paid 3,041,616,994  3,041,616,994   305,173,641   305,173,641  
  
Movements in ordinary share capital 
  

Details 
 
Date 

 
Shares 

Issue 
price 

 
$ 

        
Balance  1 July 2014  2,507,761,565    301,728,180  
Placing and subscription  30 July 2014  21,290,200  $0.0100   212,902  
  10 September 2014  20,165,667  $0.0090   181,491  
Placing and subscription  17 October 2014  33,022,857  $0.0070   231,160  
Placing and subscription  20 November 2014  21,442,500  $0.0060   128,655  
Placing and subscription  26 November 2014  196,672,080  $0.0090   1,770,049  
Equity plan issue to employees  17 December 2014  49,660,075  $0.0090   446,940  
Conversion of secured convertible loan notes  24 December 2014  24,670,000  $0.0050   123,350  
Conversion of secured convertible loan notes  9 January 2015  12,448,600  $0.0050   62,243  
Placing and subscription  14 January 2015  25,600,600  $0.0050   128,003  
Conversion of secured convertible loan notes  21 January 2015  12,394,600  $0.0050   61,973  
Conversion of secured convertible loan notes  29 January 2015  50,923,000  $0.0040   203,692  
Conversion of secured convertible loan notes  5 February 2015  65,565,250  $0.0040   262,261  
Less: Transaction costs arising upon the issuing of 
shares 

 
 

 
- $0.0000 

 
(367,258) 

        
Balance  30 June 2015  3,041,616,994    305,173,641  
        
Balance  30 June 2016  3,041,616,994    305,173,641  
  
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the company 
does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 
  
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 
  
Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated 
as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 
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Note 7. Equity - dividends 
  
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 
  

Note 8. Financial instruments 
  
Financial risk management objectives 
Since the consolidated entity has ceased trading operations and entered voluntary administration in the prior year the 
consolidated entity is no longer exposed to foreign currency risk, price risk, interest rate risk or credit risk. Liquidity risk is 
documented below;  
  
 
Liquidity risk 
 
The consolidated entity entered voluntary administration during the prior year and as such the consolidated entity sold its 
intellectual property, plant and equipment and inventory for a total consideration of $8.75 million and subsequently repaid 
the convertible note holders.  The remaining creditors were paid in accordance with Deed of Company Arrangement which 
was Completed on 4 October 2016.   
 
Remaining contractual maturities 
The following tables detail the consolidated entity's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The 
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining 
contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position. 
  

 

  

1 year or less 

 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

 
Between 2 
and 5 years 

 

Over 5 years 

 Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

2016   $  $  $  $  $ 
            
Non-derivatives            
Non-interest bearing            
Trade payables   1,316,328   -  -  -  1,316,328  
Total non-derivatives   1,316,328   -  -  -  1,316,328  
  

 

  

1 year or less 

 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

 
Between 2 
and 5 years 

 

Over 5 years 

 Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

2015   $  $  $  $  $ 
            
Non-derivatives            
Non-interest bearing            
Trade payables   5,684,242   -  -  -  5,684,242  
Total non-derivatives   5,684,242   -  -  -  5,684,242  
  
The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed 
above. 
  
Fair value of financial instruments 
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. 
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Note 9. Remuneration of auditors 
  
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by William Buck, the auditor of the 
company: 
  
   
  2016  2015 
  $  $ 
     
Audit services - William Buck      
Audit of the financial statements  7,000   5,000  
Other assurance services  2,500   4,000  
     
  9,500   9,000  
  

Note 10. Contingencies 
  
Contingent Assets 
 
Prior to 2008 the company acquired a number of collateralized debt obligations ("CDO's) as part of its cash management 
and reserve strategy for surplus funds. These investments held at “AAA” rating by Standard and Poor and as such were 
considered to be blue chip investment securities. In 2008 as a result of the financial crisis these investments defaulted and 
were provisioned to zero in the financial report. In 2015 the Administrators of the company entered into a funding agreement 
with Litigation Capital Partners Funding Pte. Ltd. to participate in a class action against the rating agency Standard and 
Poors. The class action claims were considered highly speculative and may have been time barred given the time since the 
date of the original investments. The sum total of the company losses on these investments was $17.1 million. 
  
The litigation was settled on 17 May 2018 but the exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders 
being made in respect to the costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined we have classified the claim as a 
Contingent Asset. It is expected that the company will recovery approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost 
orders and distributions, the timing of which has not yet been determined. 
  
Contingent Liabilities  
 
The company had a bank guarantee for $248,000 in respect of leased premises for the which the company used to operate 
from. 

Note 11. Related party transactions 
  
Parent entity 
The parent entity within the Group is Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited which, at 30 June 2016, owned no subsidiaries.  Ceramic 
Fuel Cells (Powder) Limited was dissolved during the year. 
  
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 12. 
  
Transactions with related parties 
There were no transactions with related parties during the current and previous financial year. 
  
Receivable from and payable to related parties 
There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous reporting date. 
  
Loans to/from related parties 
There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date. 
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Note 12. Interests in subsidiaries 
  
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in note 1: 
  
    Ownership interest 
  Principal place of business /  2016  2015 
Name  Country of incorporation  %  % 
       
Parent entity 
 
Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited 

 

Australia 

 

- 

 

- 
Subsidiaries 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Ceramic Fuel Cells (Powder) Limited  United Kingdom  -  100%  
  
Ceramic Fuel Cells (Powder) Limited was voluntarily dissolved on 21 July 2015 by request of its directors. 
  

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 
The following significant matters have occurred since the reporting date.  
 
On 4 October 2016 the company entered into a Deed of Company Arrangement (DOCA), which allowed the 
recapitalisation of the company. 
 
On 4 October 2016:  
 

• Under the terms of the DOCA, all available property of the company and a $585,000 contribution from Litigation 
Capital Partners Funding were used to repay unsecured creditors, with the remainder of the debt being forgiven. 

  
• In accordance with the DOCA, the company issued 456,242,549 shares to raise $40,000. 

 
• The DOCA was completed and Alasdair Locke, Robert Kennett and Clifford Ashby resigned as Directors of the 

company.  On the same day Damien Hodgkinson, Quentin Olde, Kyle Singleton and Song Qixiang were appointed 
as Directors of the company. 

 
On 19 September 2017 the Company amended the loan agreement with Litigation Capital Partners Funding to include the 
following amendments; 
 

• To increase the available facility to $735,000 by way of a facility extension of $150,000; 
 

• At the discretion of Litigation Capital Partners Funding the loan may now be converted into shares at a rate of 
$0.0001 per share; and 
 

• The loan repayment date has been modified to only require repayment if the Company issues new share capital 
 

On 9 November 2017 Quentin Olde resigned as a Director of the company. 
 
On 17 May 2018 the company reached settlement in respect of their class action case against the ratings agency Standard 
and Poor’s.  The exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders being made in respect to the 
costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined the claim has been classified as a Contingent Asset. It is 
expected that the company will recovery approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost orders and 
distributions, the timing of which has not yet been determined Further disclosure in respect of this has been provided in the 
financial report 
 
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2016 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
Company's operations, the results of those operations, or the Company's state of affairs in future financial years. 
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Note 14. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash used in operating activities 
  
   
  2016  2015 
  $  $ 
     
Loss after income tax benefit for the year  (1,164,020)  (12,104,855) 
     
Adjustments for:     
Foreign exchange differences  -    904,145  
Non-cash employee benefits expense: share-based payments  -    499,070  
Disposal of assets in the Group  -    11,143,264  
     
Change in operating assets and liabilities:     

Decrease in trade and other receivables  -    464,519  
Decrease in inventories  -    494,481  
Increase in other current assets  (70,700)    (67,918) 
Decrease/(increase) in R&D receivable   5,196,800   (5,196,800) 
Increase in other non-current assets  -    (12,449) 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  (1,570,156)  1,223,524  
Decrease in provisions  -    (5,600,281) 
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities  (2,727,058)  2,727,058  
Decrease in deferred revenue  -    (2,491,527) 

     
Net cash used in operating activities  (335,134)  (8,017,769) 
  

Note 15. Earnings per share 
  
   
  2016  2015 
  $  $ 
     
Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited   (1,164,020)  (12,104,855) 
  
 Number Number 
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per 
share 3,041,616,994  2,805,582,224  
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per 
share 3,041,616,994  2,805,582,224  
  
  Cents  Cents 
     
Basic earnings per share  (0.04)  (0.43) 
Diluted earnings per share  (0.04)  (0.43) 
  
 





 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE 
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF CERAMIC FUEL CELLS 
LIMITED 
 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief during the year ended 30 June 2016 
there have been: 

— no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

— no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
audit. 

 
 
 
 

William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136 

 
 
 
 

N. S. Benbow 
Director 
 
Melbourne, 19 June 2018 
 



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CERAMIC FUEL CELLS 
LIMITED  
 
Report on the Financial Report 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial report of Ceramic Fuel Cells 
Limited (the company) comprising the company and the entities it controlled at year’s end 
or from time to time during the financial year (the consolidated entity).The consolidated 
financial report comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 
2016, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 
and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  In Note 1, the 
directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Those standards 
require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
report is free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
report, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CERAMIC FUEL CELLS LIMITED 
(CONT) 
 
Independence 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001.   
 
Auditor’s Opinion 
In our opinion: 
a) the financial report of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including: 
i. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2016 and of 

its performance for the year ended on that date; and 
ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 

Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 
b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 

1. 
 
Other Matter 
We have audited the financial report of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited for the year ended 30 June 2015.  We 
expressed a disclaimer of opinion over the balances for the year ended 30 June 2015.  These balances are 
included as comparatives in the financial report for the year ended 30 June 2016. 

 
 
 
 

William Buck Audit (VIC) Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136        

 
 
 
 

N.S. Benbow 
Director 
Melbourne 19 June 2018 
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the Consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as 
the 'Consolidated entity') consisting of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited (referred to hereafter as the 'company' or 'parent entity') 
and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the half-year ended 31 December 2016. 
  

Directors 
The following persons were directors of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited during the whole of the financial half-year and up to the 
date of this report, unless otherwise stated: 
  
Alasdair Locke (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Robert Kennett (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Clifford Ashby (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Quentin Olde (appointed 4 October 2016, resigned 9 November 2017) 
Karl Foger (appointed 1 August 2014, resigned 4 October 2016) 
Damien Hodgkinson (appointed 4 October 2016) 
Song Qixing (appointed 4 October 2016) 
Kyla Singleton (appointed 4 October 2016) 

 

 

Dividends 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial half-year. 
  

Review of operations 
The loss for the Consolidated entity after providing for income tax amounted to $87,666 (31 December 2015: loss of 
$728,745). 
 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
 
On 4 October 2016 the company entered into a Deed of Company Arrangement (DOCA), which allowed the 
recapitalisation of the company.  
 
 Under the terms of the DOCA, all available property of the company and a $585,000 contribution from Litigation Capital 

Partners were used to repay unsecured creditors, with the remainder of the debt being forgiven. 
 

 In accordance with the DOCA, the company issued 456,242,549 shares to raise $40,000. 
 

 The DOCA was completed and Alasdair Locke, Robert Kennett and Clifford Ashby resigned as Directors of the 
company. On the same day Damien Hodgkinson, Quentin Olde, Kyla Singleton and Song Qixiang were appointed as 
Directors of the company. 

 
Likely developments and expected results of operations 
Information on likely developments in the operations of the Consolidated entity and the expected results of operations have 
not been included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the 
Consolidated entity. 
 
Shares under option 
There were no unissued ordinary shares of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited under option outstanding at the date of this report. 
  
Matters subsequent to the end of the financial half-year 
 
The following significant matters have occurred since the reporting date; 
  
On 19 September 2017 the company amended the loan agreement with Litigation Capital Partners to include the following 
amendments; 
 
 To increase the available facility to $935,000 by way of a facility extension of $350,000; 

 
 





 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE 
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF CERAMIC FUEL CELLS LIMITED 
 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief during the half-year ended 31 
December 2016 there have been: 

— no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the review; and 

— no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
review. 

 
 
 
 

 
William Buck Audit [Vic] Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136 

 
 
 
 

N. S. Benbow 
Director 
Dated the 8th day of August 2018 
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
For the half-year ended 31 December 2016 
 

  
  Consolidated 

 
 31 December 

2016 
 31 December 

2015 
  $  $ 
     

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes 

4 

Revenue  383,500  33,711   
  
Expenses     
General & administration  (422,660)  (749,404) 
Directors fees  (39,000)  - 
Finance costs  (9,506)  (13,052) 
  
Loss before income tax benefit  (87,666)  (728,745) 
  
Income tax benefit  -  -   
  
Loss after income tax benefit for the half-year attributable to the owners of Ceramic 
Fuel Cells Limited  

 
(87,666) 

 
(728,745)   

  

Other comprehensive income for the half-year, net of tax  -    - 
  
Total comprehensive income for the half-year attributable to the owners of Ceramic 
Fuel Cells Limited  

 
(87,666) 

 
(728,745)   

  
 
 
  Cents  Cents 
Earnings per share for loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company     
Basic and diluted earnings per share  (0.00)  (0.03) 
     
 
 
 



Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited  
Statement of financial position 
As at 31 December 2016 
 

  
    Consolidated 

 
 

Note 
 31 December 

2016 
 
30 June 2016 

    $  $ 
       

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Assets       
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents    39,589  563,675 
GST receivable    41,584  70,700 
Deposits receivable    -  248,000 
Total current assets    81,173  882,375 
       
Non-current assets       
Total non-current assets    -  - 
       
Total assets    81,173  882,375 
  

Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables    48,500  1,387,036 
Total current liabilities    48,500  1,387,036 
       
Non-current liabilities       
Borrowings    585,000  - 
Total non-current liabilities    585,000  - 
       
Total liabilities    633,500  1,387,036 
  
Net deficiency of assets    (552,327)  (504,661) -   
  

Equity       
Issued capital  3  305,213,641  305,173,641 
Reserves    -  5,249,332 
Accumulated losses    (305,765,968)  (310,927,634) 
       
Total equity    (552,327)  (504,661) 
  
 



Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited  
Statement of changes in equity 
For the half-year ended 31 December 2016 
 

  

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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  Issued    Retained  
Total equity   capital  Reserves  profits  

Consolidated  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2015  305,173,641  5,249,332  (309,763,614)  659,359 
         
Loss after income tax benefit for the half-
year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(728,745) 

 
(728,745) 

         
Total comprehensive income for the half-
year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(728,745) 

 
(728,745) 

         
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
         
Balance at 31 December 2015  305,173,641  5,249,332  (310,492,359)  (69,386) 
  
 
  Issued    Retained  

Total equity   capital  Reserves  profits  
Consolidated  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2016  305,173,641  5,249,332  (310,927,634)  (504,661) 
         
Loss after income tax benefit for the half-
year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(87,666) 

 
(87,666) 

         
Total comprehensive income for the half-
year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(87,666) 

 
(87,666) 

         
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs 

 
40,000 

 
- 

 
- 

 
40,000 

Transfer of expired share based 
payments 

 
- 

 
(5,249,332) 

 
5,249,332 

 
- 

         
Balance at 31 December 2016  305,213,641  -  (305,765,968)  (552,327) 
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For the half-year ended 31 December 2016 
 

  
  Consolidated 

 
 31 December 

2016 
 31 December 

2015 
  $  $ 
     

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
7 

Cash flows from operating activities     
Receipts from customers (including GST)  -  33,711 
Payments to suppliers and employees (including GST)  (1,149,086)  (4,348,122) 
Interest paid  -  (13,052) 
Income taxes refunded  -  5,196,800 
     
Net cash from operating activities  (1,149,086)  869,337 
  

Cash flows from investing activities     
Net cash from investing activities  -  - 
  

Cash flows from financing activities     
Issue of share capital (net of costs)  40,000  - 
Proceeds from/(repayment of) loans  585,000  - 
     
Net cash from financing activities  625,000  - 
  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (524,086)  869,337  
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial half-year  563,675  898,809  
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  -  -  
      
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial half-year  39,589  1,768,146  
  
  



Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited  
Notes to the financial statements 
For the half-year ended 31 December 2016  
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Note 1. Significant accounting policies 
  
This Consolidated financial report for the half-year ended 31 December 2016 (“the Half-Year Report”) has been prepared in 
accordance with AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting and the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
The Half-Year Report does not include all notes of the type normally included within the annual general purpose financial 
report and therefore cannot be expected to provide as full an understanding of the financial performance, financial position 
and financing and investing activities of the Group as the Group’s Annual Report. 
  
It is recommended that the Half-Year Report be read in conjunction with the Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2016 
and considered together with any public announcements made by the Company in accordance with the Group’s continuous 
disclosure obligations under ASX listing rules (a copy of which is available on the ASX website (www.asx.com.au)).   
 
The Half-Year Report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the normal continuity of business 
activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.  
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the half-years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
  
New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The Consolidated entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
  
Changes in accounting policies 
There have been no changes in accounting policies during the half-year ended 31 December 2016. 
  
Changes in accounting estimates 
There were no significant changes in accounting estimates for the half-year ended 31 December 2016. 
  
Basis of accounting 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate 
for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 
 

Note 2. Equity - issued capital 
  

 
Consolidated 

 

 
 31 December 

2016 
 30 June  

2016 
 31 December 

2016 
 30 June  

2016 
  Shares  Shares  $  $ 
         
Ordinary shares - fully paid  3,497,859,543   3,041,616,994   305,213,641   305,173,641  
 
 
Movements in ordinary share capital 
  
Details  Date  Shares  Issue price  $ 
         
Balance  30 June 2016  3,041,616,994    305,173,641 
         
Placing and subscription  4 October 2016  456,242,549   $0.00001   40,000  
         
Balance  31 December 2016  3,497,859,543    305,213,641 
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Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the company 
does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 
  
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 
  

Note 3. Equity - dividends 
  
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial half-year. 
  

Note 4. Contingent assets 
  
Prior to 2008 the company acquired a number of collateralized debt obligations (CDO's) as part of its cash management and 
reserve strategy for surplus funds. These investments held at “AAA” rating by Standard and Poor and as such were 
considered to be blue chip investment securities. In 2008 as a result of the financial crisis these investments defaulted and 
were provisioned to zero in the financial report. In 2015 the Administrators of the company entered into a funding agreement 
with LCP Capital Partners Pte Limited to participate in a class action against the rating agency Standard and Poor. The class 
action claims were considered highly speculative and may have been time barred given the time since the date of the original 
investments. The sum total of the company losses on these investments was $17.1 million. 
  
The litigation was settled on 17 May 2018 but the exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders 
being made in respect to the costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined we have classified the claim as a 
Contingent Asset. It is expected that the company will recover approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost 
orders and distributions, the timing of which has not yet been determined.  
 
Note 5. Events after the reporting period 
  
The following significant matters have occurred since the reporting date; 
   
On 19 September 2017 the company amended the loan agreement with Litigation Capital Partners to include the following 
amendments: 
 
 To increase the available facility to $935,000 by way of a facility extension of $350,000; 
 
 At the discretion of Litigation Capital Partners the loan may now be converted into shares at a rate of $0.0001 per share; 

and 
 

 The loan repayment date has been modified to only require repayment if the company issues new share capital. 
 

On 9 November 2017 Quentin Olde resigned as a Director of the company. 
  
On 17 May 2018 the company reached settlement in respect of their class action case against the ratings agency Standard 
and Poor’s. The exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders being made in respect to the 
costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined the claim has been classified as a Contingent Asset. It is expected 
that the company will recover approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost orders and distributions, the 
timing of which has not yet been determined. Further disclosure in respect of this has been provided in the financial report.  
  
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2016 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect the Consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the Consolidated entity's state of affairs in 
future financial years. 
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Note 6. Earnings per share 
  
  Consolidated 

 
 31 December 

2016 
 31 December 

2015 
  $  $ 
     
Basic and diluted earnings per share  (0.00)  (0.03) 
 
 

 
 
 

 
  Number  Number 
Weighted average number of shares     
Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator in calculating basic 
and diluted earnings per share 

 3,151,615,198  2,805,582,224 

 
 
 

 

$ 

 

$ 
Earnings used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share     
Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited   (87,666)  (728,754) 
 
There were no results from discontinued operations, nor net losses attributable to outside equity interests, to be taken into 
account in determining earnings used 





 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REVIEW REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CERAMIC FUEL 
CELLS LIMITED 
 
Report on the Half-Year Financial Report 
We have reviewed the accompanying half-year financial report of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited 
(the Company) which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity 
and statement of cash flows for the half-year ended on that date, notes to the financial 
statements and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Half-Year Financial Report 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the half-year financial 
report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of the half-year financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the half-year financial report based on our 
review.  We conducted our review in accordance with Auditing Standard on Review 
Engagements ASRE 2410 Review of a Financial Report Performed by the Independent Auditor 
of the Entity, in order to state whether, on the basis of the procedures described, we have 
become aware of any matter that makes us believe that the financial report is not in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 including:  

— giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2016 and 
its performance for the half-year ended on that date; and  

— complying with Accounting Standard AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001.   

 
As the auditor of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited ASRE 2410 requires that we comply with the 
ethical requirements relevant to the audit of the annual financial report. 
 
A review of a half-year financial report consists of making enquiries, primarily of persons 
responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review 
procedures.  A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that 
we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit.  
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion. 
 
 



 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REVIEW REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CERAMIC FUEL CELLS LIMITED 
(CONT) 
 
Independence 
In conducting our review, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.   
 
Conclusion 
Based on our review, which is not an audit, we have not become aware of any matter that makes us believe that 
the half-year financial report of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited is not in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
including: 
 
a) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2016 and of its 

performance for the half year ended on that date; and 
 

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standard 134 Interim Financial Reporting and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001. 

 
 
 
 
William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136 
 
 
 
 
N. S. Benbow 
Director 
 
Dated this 8th day of August 2018 
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the Company for the year ended 30 June 2017. 
  

Directors 
The following persons were directors of the Company during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this report, 
unless otherwise stated: 
  
Alasdair Locke - Chairman (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Damien Hodgkinson - Chairman (appointed 4 October 2016) 
Karl Foger - (appointed 1 August 2014, resigned 4 October 2016) 
Robert Kennett  (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Clifford Ashby (resigned 4 October 2016) 
Quentin Olda (appointed 4 October 2016, resigned 9 November 2017) 
Kyla Singleton (appointed 4 October 2016) 
Song Qixiang (appointed 4 October 2016) 
  

Dividends 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 
  

Review of operations 
The loss for the Company after providing for income tax amounted to $223,389 (30 June 2016: $1,164,020). 
  

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
As noted in previous financial reports the Company has remained in voluntary administration since 1 March 2015 until 4 
October 2016 when the Company entered into a Deed of Company Arrangement (DOCA), which allowed the recapitalisation 
of the Company. Under the terms of the DOCA all available property of the Company in addition to a $585,000 contribution 
from Litigation Capital Partners Funding was used to repay unsecured creditors, with the remainder of the debt being forgiven. 
  
On 4 October 2016 the Company issued 456,242,549 shares to raise $40,000 in accordance with the DOCA. 
  
On 4 October 2016 on completion of the DOCA, Alasdair Locke, Robert Kennett and Clifford Ashby resigned as Directors of 
the Company. On the same day Damien Hodgkinson, Quentin Olde, Kyle Singleton and Song Qixiang were appointed as 
Directors of the Company. 
  
There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the financial year. 

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 
 
On 19 September 2017 the Company amended the loan agreement with Litigation Capital Partners Funding to include the 
following amendments; 
 

• To increase the available facility to $735,000 by way of a facility extension of $150,000; 
 

• At the discretion of Litigation Capital Partners Funding the loan may now be converted into shares at a rate of 
$0.0001 per share; and 
 

• The loan repayment date has been modified to only require repayment if the Company issues new share capital 
 

On 9 November 2017 Quentin Olde resigned as a Director of the Company. 
 
On 17 May 2018 the Company reached settlement in respect of their class action case against the ratings agency 
Standard and Poor’s.  The exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders being made in 
respect to the costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined the claim has been classified as a Contingent 
Asset. It is expected that the Company will recovery approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost orders 
and distributions, the timing of which has not yet been determined Further disclosure in respect of this has been provided 
in the financial report 
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No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2017 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
Company's operations, the results of those operations, or the Company's state of affairs in future financial years. 
  

Likely developments and expected results of operations 
Information on likely developments in the operations of the Company and the expected results of operations have not been 
included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company. 
  

Environmental regulation 
The Company is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth or State law. 
  

Information on directors 
Information on the Directors is as follows 
  
Name:  Damien Hodgkinson 
Title:  Chairman 
Age:  49 
Qualifications:  Bachelor of Commerce from University of Melbourne 

 
Experience and expertise:  Mr Hodgkinson is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants Australia, and 

the Managing Director of DEM Asia Group.  
 
He has worked in Australia, the Asia Pacific and South America on complex cross 
border insolvencies and represented lenders in the realisation of offshore assets in 
North American multi-national companies including Akai Electric (Japan), Johnson 
and Evinrude (USA), and HIH Winterthur (Hong Kong).  
 
After returning to Australia in 2004, Mr Hodgkinson joined KPMG as a partner in their 
corporate restructuring practice in Sydney where he represented corporate debtors 
in the renegotiation of primary lending facilities including Lehmans, Hedley Group, 
Babcock and Brown Limited, Colorado Limited, Retail Adventures Pty Limited, BBY 
Limited and ABC Learning Centres Limited.  
 
Mr Hodgkinson is currently a director of APP Securities Pty Limited, an Australian 
stockbroking and investment banking firm servicing Asia Pacific. 

  
Name:  Kyla Singleton  
Title:  Non-Executive Director 
Age:  34 
Qualifications:  Bachelors degree in Finance/Accounting from the University of Adelaide 

Bachelor of Law from Queensland University of Technology. 
   

Experience and expertise:  Kyla Singleton is a solicitor with over 10 years experience in commercial litigation, 
working with clients in many fields including large corporates and government bodies.   
 
In 2015, Kyla commenced working in litigation funding, managing funding of large 
complex shareholder and other class actions, insolvency and general commercial 
litigation matters. 
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Name:  Song Qixiang  
Title:  Non-Executive Director 
Age:  38 
Qualifications:  Bachelor of Business Administration from University of South Australia 

Master of Applied Finance from Macquarie University. 

Experience and expertise:  Ms Song is currently a Nominee Director and Company Secretary for a number of 
investment holding companies in Singapore. She has over 17 years of experience 
working in finance, accounting, corporate secretary, financial modelling, and 
commodities.  

Her previous role was Finance Director and Company Secretary for an investment 
banking firm where she was responsible for all aspects of financial matters including 
overseeing statutory accounting, management reporting and compliance with local 
regulatory authorities.  

Ms Song’s earlier work involved financial modelling and analysis of various bids for 
potential projects, participation and conducting financial and legal due diligence on 
acquisition deals as well as preparation of investment materials. 

Shares under option 
There were no unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option outstanding at the date of this report. 

Shares issued on the exercise of options 
There were no ordinary shares of the Company issued on the exercise of options during the year ended 30 June 2017 and 
up to the date of this report. 

Indemnity and insurance of officers 
The Company has indemnified the directors and executives of the Company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director 
or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. 

Indemnity and insurance of auditor 
The Company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the 
Company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 

During the financial year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the Company 
or any related entity. 

Proceedings on behalf of the Company 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf 
of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility 
on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 

Auditor's independence declaration 
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 
immediately after this directors' report. 
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Other revenue 3 383,508 33,711 

Expenses 
Remuneration of Directors and Company Secretary (152,000)  -  
General, Occupancy & Administration (426,378)  (1,178,295) 
Finance costs (28,519)  (19,436) 

Loss before income tax expense (223,389)  (1,164,020) 

Income tax expense -  -  

Loss after income tax expense for the year attributable to the owners of 
Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited  (223,389) (1,164,020) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax -  -  

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of Ceramic 
Fuel Cells Limited  

 
(223,389) (1,164,020) 

Cents Cents 

Basic earnings per share 16 (0.00661)  (0.04)
Diluted earnings per share 16 (0.00661)  (0.04)
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Assets       
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents  4  35,650   563,675  
Deposits receivable    -    248,000  
GST receivable    41,819   70,700  
Total current assets    77,469   882,375 
       
Total assets    77,469   882,375  
  

Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables  5  180,519   1,387,036  
Loan  6  585,000   -   
Total current liabilities    765,519   1,387,036  
       
Total liabilities    765,519   1,387,036  
  
Net liabilities    (688,050)  (504,661) 
  

Equity       
Issued capital  7  305,213,641   305,173,641  
Reserves    -    5,249,332  
Accumulated losses    (305,901,691)  (310,927,634) 
       
Total deficiency in equity    (688,050)  (504,661) 
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  Issued    Accumulated  Total 
deficiency in 

equity  
 

capital 
 

Reserves 
 

losses 
 

  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2015  305,173,641   5,249,332   (309,763,614)  659,359  
         
Loss after income tax expense for the year  -  -  (1,164,020)  (1,164,020) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -  -  -   
         
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  -  (1,164,020)  (1,164,020) 
         
Balance at 30 June 2016  305,173,641   5,249,332   (310,927,634)  (504,661) 
  
  Issued    Accumulated   Total 

deficiency 
in equity  

 
capital 

 
Reserves 

 
losses 

 

  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2016  305,173,641   5,249,332   (310,927,634)  (504,661) 
         

Loss after income tax expense for the year 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(223,389) 
 

(223,389) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of 
tax 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
-   

         

Total comprehensive income for the year 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(223,389) 
 

(223,389) 
         
Issue of shares  40,000   -  -  40,000  

Transfer of expired share based payments 
 

- 
 

(5,249,332) 
 

5,249,332  
 

-   
         
Balance at 30 June 2017  305,213,641   -  (305,901,691)  (688,050) 
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Cash flows from operating activities       
Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST)    -    5,230,511  
Payments to suppliers (inclusive of GST)    (1,153,025)  (5,545,825) 
Interest paid    -    (19,820) 
       
Net cash used in operating activities  15  (1,153,025)  (335,134) 
  

Cash flows from investing activities       
       
Net cash from investing activities    -    -   
  

Cash flows from financing activities       
Issue of share capital (net of costs)  7  40,000   -   
Proceeds from borrowings    585,000   -   
       
Net cash from financing activities    625,000   -   
  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (528,025)  (335,134) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year    563,675   898,809  
       
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year  4  35,650   563,675  
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Note 1. Significant accounting policies 
  
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
  
Basis of preparation 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate 
for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 
 
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The Company has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
  
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have been early adopted. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared under historical cost. 
  
Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity's accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 
  
Other revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 
  
Income tax 
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable.  
 
The consolidated entity has tax losses carried forward from its previous operations.  However, as a result of a significant 
change of ownership and change in business activities it is unlikely that these losses will be able to be utilised. 
 
The Research and Development Tax Incentive is recognised when the cash is received or when the right to receive payment 
is established.  
 
Current and non-current classification 
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. 
  
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the 
Company's normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months 
after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 
  
A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the Company's normal operating cycle; it is held 
primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities 
are classified as non-current. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 
  
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
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Trade and other receivables 
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. 
  
Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the financial year 
and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
  
Borrowings 
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. They 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
  
Where there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, the 
loans or borrowings are classified as non-current. 
  
Finance costs 
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed in 
the period in which they are incurred. 
  
Fair value measurement 
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair 
value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principal 
market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 
  
Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and 
best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable 
inputs. 
  
Issued capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
  
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 
  
Loss per share 
  
Basic loss per share 
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited, excluding 
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 
  
Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense. 
  
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position. 
  
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
  
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority. 
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Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
  
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal 
the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 
  
Contingent asset 
Management have elected to disclose a contingent asset in respect of a class action legal settlement entered into during 
2008. Further disclosure is provided in Note 12. Significant judgment is required in respect of this matter.  
  

Note 3. Other revenue 
  
  2017  2016 
  $  $ 
     
Debt forgiveness in respect of Deed of Company Arrangement  383,508   -   
Sundry income  -    33,711  
     
Other revenue  383,508   33,711  
  

Note 4. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents 
  
  2017  2016 
  $  $ 
     
Cash on hand*  35,650    563,675  
     
  35,650   563,675  
*2016 cash on hand was restricted as the balance was controlled by the administrator. 

Note 5. Current liabilities - trade and other payables 
  
  2017  2016 
  $  $ 
     
Trade payables  20,000   1,360,396  
Other payables  132,000   26,640  
Interest payable  28,519   -   
     
  180,519   1,387,036  
  
Refer to note 9 for further information on financial instruments. 
  
Other payables in the current year relate to amounts payable to Directors of the Company. 
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Note 6. Current liabilities - Loan 
  
  2017  2016 
  $  $ 
     
Related party loan  585,000   -   
  
An unsecured subordinated loan of $585,000 was established with Litigation Capital Partners Funding Pte Ltd, as a condition 
of the Deed of Company Arrangement to fund the contribution to the Creditors Trust. The interest for the loan is accrued at 
the Reserve Bank of Australia interest rate plus 5%.  As at 30 June 2017 the loan had no equity conversion feature however 
the loan agreement was amended on 19 September 2017 to include a conversion feature.  Please refer to Note 14 for further 
information. 
  

Note 7. Equity - issued capital 
  
 2017 2016  2017  2016 
 Shares Shares  $  $ 
       

Ordinary shares - fully paid 3,497,859,543 3,041,616,994 
 

305,213,641  
 

305,173,641  
  
Movements in ordinary share capital 
  
Details Date Shares  Issue price  $ 
       

Balance 1 July 2015 3,041,616,994  
 

 
 

305,173,641  
       

Balance 30 June 2016 3,041,616,994  
 

 
 

305,173,641  

Issue of shares 4 October 2016 456,242,549  
 

$0.00001  
 

40,000  
       

Balance 30 June 2017 3,497,859,543  
 

 
 

305,213,641  
  
 
 
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the Company 
does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 
  
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 
  
Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated 
as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 
  

Note 8. Equity - dividends 
  
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 
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Note 9. Financial instruments 
  
Financial risk management objectives 
Since the consolidated entity has ceased trading operations and entered voluntary administration in the prior year the 
consolidated entity is no longer exposed to foreign currency risk, price risk, or credit risk. Liquidity risk and interest rate risk 
are documented below;  
  
Interest rate risk 
The Company's loan and borrowing is accruing interest based on the Reserve Bank of Australia ("RBA") rate plus 5%.  
However, the impact of a rate change pushed down by the RBA of 0.25% would not have a material impact on the Company. 
  
Liquidity risk 
The Company entered voluntary administration during the prior year and as such the consolidated entity sold its intellectual 
property, plant and equipment and inventory for a total consideration of $8.75 million and subsequently repaid the convertible 
note holders. The remaining creditors were paid in accordance with Deed of Company Arrangement which was Completed 
on 4 October 2016.   
  
The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing facilities by 
continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 
  
Remaining contractual maturities 
The following tables detail the Company's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The tables 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the 
financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining 
contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position. 
  

 

 Weighted 
average 

interest rate 

 

1 year or less 

 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

 
Between 2 
and 5 years 

 

Over 5 years 

 Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

2017  %  $  $  $  $  $ 
             
Non-derivatives             
Non-interest bearing             
Trade payables  -  180,519   -  -  -  180,519  
             
Interest-bearing - variable             
Other loans  -  585,000   -  -  -  585,000  
Total non-derivatives    765,519   -  -  -  765,519  
  

 

 Weighted 
average 

interest rate 

 

1 year or less 

 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

 
Between 2 
and 5 years 

 

Over 5 years 

 Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

2016  %  $  $  $  $  $ 
             
Non-derivatives             
Non-interest bearing             
Trade payables  -  1,316,328   -  -  -  1,316,328  
Total non-derivatives    1,316,328   -  -  -  1,316,328  
  
The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed 
above. 
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Note 10. Key management personnel disclosures 
  
Directors 
The following persons were directors of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited during the financial year: 
  
Damien Hodgkinson    
Kyla Singleton    
Song Qixiang    
  
Compensation 
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the Company is set 
out below: 
  
  2017  2016 
  $  $ 
     
Short-term employee benefits*  132,000   -   
  
*Includes superannuation benefit of 9.5% 
 

Note 11. Remuneration of auditors 
  
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by William Buck (Vic) Audit Pty Ltd, 
the auditor of the Company: 
  
  2017  2016 
  $  $ 
     
Audit services - William Buck      
Audit of the financial statements  6,000   7,000  
Other assurance services  2,500   2,500  
     
  8,500   9,500  
  

Note 12. Contingent assets 
  
Prior to 2008 the Company acquired a number of collateralized debt obligations ("CDO's) as part of its cash management 
and reserve strategy for surplus funds. These investments held at “AAA” rating by Standard and Poor and as such were 
considered to be blue chip investment securities. In 2008 as a result of the financial crisis these investments defaulted and 
were provisioned to zero in the financial report. In 2015 the Administrators of the Company entered into a funding agreement 
with Litigation Capital Partners Funding Pte. Ltd. to participate in a class action against the rating agency Standard and 
Poors. The class action claims were considered highly speculative and may have been time barred given the time since the 
date of the original investments. The sum total of the Company losses on these investments was $17.1 million. 
  
The litigation was settled on 17 May 2018 but the exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court 
orders being made in respect to the costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined we have classified the claim 
as a Contingent Asset. It is expected that the Company will recovery approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the 
final cost orders and distributions, the timing of which has not yet been determined.  

Note 13. Related party transactions 
  
Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 10. 
  
Transactions with related parties 
An amount of $28,519 was accrued in respect of an interest charge on the related party loan as noted below. 
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Receivable from and payable to related parties 
There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous reporting date. 
  
Loans to/from related parties 
A subordinated loan of $585,000 was established with Litigation Capital Partners Funding Pte. Ltd. a Company for which 
Song Qixiang is an employee, as a condition of the Deed of Company Arrangement to fund the contribution to the Creditors 
Trust. The interest for the loan is accrued at the Reserve Bank of Australia interest rate plus 5%. 
  

Note 14. Events after the reporting period 
  
On 19 September 2017 the Company amended the loan agreement with Litigation Capital Partners Funding to include the 
following amendments; 
 

• To increase the available facility to $735,000 by way of a facility extension of $150,000; 
 

• At the discretion of Litigation Capital Partners Funding the loan may now be converted into shares at a rate of 
$0.0001 per share; and 
 

• The loan repayment date has been modified to only require repayment if the Company issues new share capital. 
 
On 9 November 2017 Quentin Olde resigned as a Director of the Company. 
 
On 17 May 2018 the Company reached settlement in respect of their class action case against the ratings agency 
Standard and Poor’s.  The exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders being made in 
respect to the costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined the claim has been classified as a Contingent 
Asset. It is expected that the Company will recovery approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost orders 
and distributions, the timing of which has not yet been determined Further disclosure in respect of this has been provided 
in the financial report 
  
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2017 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
Company's operations, the results of those operations, or the Company's state of affairs in future financial years. 
  

Note 15. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash used in operating activities 
  
  2017  2016 
  $  $ 
     
Loss after income tax expense for the year  (223,388)  (1,164,020) 
     
Adjustments for:     
Rental deposit not returned.  248,000   -   
Accrued interest  28,519   -   
Deed of Company arrangement debt forgiveness   (383,508)  -   
     
Change in operating assets and liabilities:     

Decrease/(increase) in R&D receivable   -    5,196,800  
Decrease/(increase) in GST receivable  28,881   (70,700) 
Decrease in trade and other payables  (851,529)  (1,570,156) 
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities  -    (2,727,058) 

     
Net cash used in operating activities  (1,153,025)  (335,134) 
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Note 16. Loss per share 
  
  2017  2016 
  $  $ 
     
Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited   (223,388)  (1,164,020) 
  
 Number  Number 
    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per 
share 3,377,861,503  

 
3,041,616,994  

    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per 
share 3,377,861,503  

 
3,041,616,994  

  
  Cents  Cents 
     
Basic earnings per share  (0.00661)  (0.03827) 
Diluted earnings per share  (0.00661)  (0.03827) 
  
 





 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE 
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF CERAMIC FUEL CELLS 
LIMITED 
 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief during the year ended 30 June 2017 
there have been: 

— no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

— no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
audit. 

 
 
 
 

William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136 

 
 
 
 

N. S. Benbow 
Director 
 
Melbourne, 19 June 2018 
 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial report of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited (the Company), which 
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, the statement of 
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ 
declaration. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company, is in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, including:  
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of 
its financial performance for the year ended on that date; and  
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 
2001.  
 

Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional 
and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations 
Act 2001, which has been given to the directors of the Company, would be in 
the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 

Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited 
Independent auditor’s report to members  
 



 
 

 

 

Other Information  
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information in 
the Company’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2017, but does not include the financial report and 
the auditor’s report thereon. 
  
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of this financial report. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 



 
 

 

 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern.  

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.  

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the financial report. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Company audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.  
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  
 

 
 
 

William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136 

 
 
 
 

N. S. Benbow 
Director 
Melbourne, 19 June 2018 
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the half-year ended 31 December 2017. 
  

Directors 
The following persons were directors of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited during the whole of the financial half-year and up to the 
date of this report, unless otherwise stated: 
  
Quentin Olde (resigned 9 November 2017) 
Damien Hodgkinson  
Song Qixing  
Kyla Singleton  

 

 

Dividends 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial half-year. 
  

Review of operations 
The loss for the Company after providing for income tax amounted to $173,485 (31 December 2016: loss of $87,666). 
  

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the financial half-year. 
 
Likely developments and expected results of operations 
Information on likely developments in the operations of the Company and the expected results of operations have not been 
included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company. 
 
Shares under option 
There were no unissued ordinary shares of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited under option outstanding at the date of this report. 
  
Matters subsequent to the end of the financial half-year 
 
The following significant matters have occurred since the reporting date; 
  
On 17 May 2018 the company reached settlement in respect of their class action case against the ratings agency Standard 
and Poor’s. The exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders being made in respect to the 
costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined the claim has been classified as a Contingent Asset. It is expected 
that the company will recover approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost orders and distributions, the 
timing of which has not yet been determined. Further disclosure in respect of this has been provided in the financial report. 
 
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2017 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect the Company's operations, the results of those operations, or the Company's state of affairs in future financial years. 

Indemnity and insurance of officers 
The company has indemnified the directors and executives of the company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director 
or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. 
  
During the financial half-year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and executives of 
the company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 
  

Indemnity and insurance of auditor 
The company has not, during or since the end of the financial half-year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the 
company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 
  





 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE 
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF CERAMIC FUEL CELLS LIMITED 
 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief during the half-year ended 31 
December 2017 there have been: 

— no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the review; and 

— no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
review. 

 
 
 
 
William Buck Audit [Vic] Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136 
 
 
 
 
N. S. Benbow 
Director 
Dated the 8th day of August 2018 
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 31 December 

2017 
 31 December 

2016 
  $  $ 
     

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes 
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Revenue  -  383,500 33,711 
  
Expenses     
General & administration  (75,546)  (422,660) 
Directors fees  (78,000)  (39,000) 
Finance costs  (19,939)  (9,506) 
  
Loss before income tax benefit  (173,485)  (87,666) 
  
Income tax benefit  -  - 
  
Loss after income tax benefit for the half-year attributable to the owners of Ceramic 
Fuel Cells Limited  

 
(173,485) 

 
(87,666)  

  

Other comprehensive income for the half-year, net of tax  -    - 
  
Total comprehensive income for the half-year attributable to the owners of Ceramic 
Fuel Cells Limited  

 
(173,485) 

 
(87,666)  

  
 
 
  Cents  Cents 
Earnings per share for loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company     
Basic and diluted earnings per share  (0.00)  (0.00) 
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Note 
 31 December 

2017 
 
30 June 2017 

    $  $ 
       

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Assets       
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents    4,691  35,650 
GST receivable    3,210  41,819 
Deposits receivable    -  - 
Total current assets    7,901  77,469 
       
Non-current assets       
Total non-current assets    -  - 
       
Total assets    7,901  77,469 
  

Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables    284,436  180,519 
Borrowings    585,000  585,000 
Total current liabilities    869,436  765,519 
       
Non-current liabilities       
Total non-current liabilities    -  - 
       
Total liabilities    869,436  765,519 
  
Net deficiency of assets    (861,535)  (688,050) -   
  

Equity       
Issued capital  2  305,213,641  305,213,641 
Accumulated losses    (306,075,176)  (305,901,691) 
       
Total equity    (861,535)  (688,050) 
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  Issued    Retained  
Total equity   capital  Reserves  profits  

  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2017  305,173,641  5,249,332  (310,927,634)  (504,661) 
         
Loss after income tax benefit for the half-
year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(87,666) 

 
(87,666) 

         
Total comprehensive income for the half-
year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(87,666) 

 
(87,666) 

         
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs 

 
40,000 

 
- 

 
- 

 
40,000 

Transfer of expired share based 
payments 

 
- 

 
(5,249,332) 

 
5,249,332 

 
- 

         
Balance at 31 December 2017  305,213,641  -  (305,765,968)  (552,327) 
  
 
  Issued    Retained  

Total equity   capital  Reserves  profits  
  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2016  305,213,641  -  (305,901,691)  (688,050) 
         
Loss after income tax benefit for the half-
year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(173,485) 

 
(173,485) 

         
Total comprehensive income for the half-
year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(173,485) 

 
(173,485) 

         
         
Balance at 31 December 2016  305,213,641  -  (306,075,176)  (861,535) 
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 31 December 

2017 
 31 December 

2016 
  $  $ 
     

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Cash flows from operating activities     
Payments to suppliers and employees (including GST)  (30,959)  (1,149,086) 
     
Net cash from operating activities  (30,959)  (1,149,086) 
  

Cash flows from investing activities     
Net cash from investing activities  -  - 
  

Cash flows from financing activities     
Issue of share capital (net of costs)  -  40,000 
Proceeds from/(repayment of) loans  -  585,000 
     
Net cash from financing activities  -  625,000 
  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (30,959)  (524,086)  
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial half-year  35,650  563,675  
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  -  -  
      
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial half-year  4,691  39,589  
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Note 1. Significant accounting policies 
  
This financial report for the half-year ended 31 December 2017 (“the Half-Year Report”) has been prepared in accordance 
with AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting and the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
The Half-Year Report does not include all notes of the type normally included within the annual general purpose financial 
report and therefore cannot be expected to provide as full an understanding of the financial performance, financial position 
and financing and investing activities of the Company as the Company’s Annual Report. 
  
It is recommended that the Half-Year Report be read in conjunction with the Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2017 
and considered together with any public announcements made by the Company in accordance with the Company’s 
continuous disclosure obligations under ASX listing rules (a copy of which is available on the ASX website 
(www.asx.com.au)).   
 
The Half-Year Report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the normal continuity of business 
activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.  
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the half-years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
  
New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The Company has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
  
Changes in accounting policies 
There have been no changes in accounting policies during the half-year ended 31 December 2017. 
  
Changes in accounting estimates 
There were no significant changes in accounting estimates for the half-year ended 31 December 2017. 
  
Basis of accounting 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate 
for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 
 

Note 2. Equity - issued capital 
  
 Consolidated 

 
 31 December 

2017 
 

30 June 2017 
 31 December 

2017 
 

30 June 2017 
  Shares  Shares  $  $ 
         
Ordinary shares - fully paid  3,497,859,543   3,497,859,543  305,213,641   305,213,641  
 
 
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the company 
does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 
  
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 
  

Note 3. Equity - dividends 
  
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial half-year. 
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Note 4. Contingent assets 
  
Prior to 2008 the company acquired a number of collateralized debt obligations (CDO's) as part of its cash management and 
reserve strategy for surplus funds. These investments held at “AAA” rating by Standard and Poor and as such were 
considered to be blue chip investment securities. In 2008 as a result of the financial crisis these investments defaulted and 
were provisioned to zero in the financial report. In 2015 the Administrators of the Company entered into a funding agreement 
with LCP Capital Partners Pte Limited to participate in a class action against the rating agency Standard and Poor. The class 
action claims were considered highly speculative and may have been time barred given the time since the date of the original 
investments. The sum total of the company losses on these investments was $17.1 million. 
  
The litigation was settled on 17 May 2018 but the exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders 
being made in respect to the costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined we have classified the claim as a 
Contingent Asset. It is expected that the company will recover approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost 
orders and distributions, the timing of which has not yet been determined. 
 
 
Note 5. Events after the reporting period 
  
The following significant matters have occurred since the reporting date; 
   
On 17 May 2018 the company reached settlement in respect of their class action case against the ratings agency Standard 
and Poor’s. The exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders being made in respect to the 
costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined the claim has been classified as a Contingent Asset. It is expected 
that the company will recover approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final cost orders and distributions, the 
timing of which has not yet been determined. Further disclosure in respect of this has been provided in the financial report.  
  
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2017 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect the Company's operations, the results of those operations, or the Company's state of affairs in future financial years. 
  

Note 6. Earnings per share 
  
   

 
 31 December 

2017 
 31 December 

2016 
  $  $ 
     
Basic and diluted earnings per share  (0.00)  (0.00) 
 
 

 
 
 

 
  Number  Number 
Weighted average number of shares     
Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator in calculating basic 
and diluted earnings per share 

 3,497,859,543  3,151,615,198 

 
 
 

 

$ 

 

$ 
Earnings used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share     
Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited   (173,485)  (87,666) 
 
There were no results from discontinued operations, nor net losses attributable to outside equity interests, to be taken into 
account in determining earnings used 





 

 
Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited 

Independent auditor’s review report to members 

Report on the Review of the Half-Year Financial Report 

Conclusion 
We have reviewed the accompanying half-year financial report of Ceramic Fuel Cells 
Limited (the company), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2017, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the half-year ended on that 
date, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information, and the directors’ declaration. 
 
Based on our review, which is not an audit, we have not become aware of any matter that 
makes us believe that the half-year financial report of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited is not in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 including: 
 
a) giving a true and fair view of the entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2017 

and of its performance for the half year ended on that date; and 
b) complying with Australian Accounting Standard 134 Interim Financial Reporting and 

the Corporations Regulations 2001. 
 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Half-Year Financial Report 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the half-year financial 
report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the half-year financial report that gives a true and 
fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Review of the Half-Year Financial 
Report 
Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the half-year financial report based on our 
review.  We conducted our review in accordance with Auditing Standard on Review 
Engagements ASRE 2410 Review of a Financial Report Performed by the Independent 
Auditor of the Entity, in order to state whether, on the basis of the procedures described, 
we have become aware of any matter that makes us believe that the financial report is not 
in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 including:  
 
— giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 

December 2017 and its performance for the half-year ended on that date; and  
— complying with Accounting Standard AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting and the 

Corporations Regulations 2001.   



 

As the auditor of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited, ASRE 2410 requires that we comply with the ethical 
requirements relevant to the audit of the annual financial report. 
 
A review of a half-year financial report consists of making enquiries, primarily of persons responsible for 
financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures.  A review is 
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards and 
consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters 
that might be identified in an audit.  Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion. 
 
Independence 
In conducting our review, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001.   
 
 
 
 
William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136 
 
 
 
 
N. S. Benbow 
Director 
 
Dated this 8th August 2018 
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the company for the year ended 30 June 
2018. 
  

Directors 
The following persons were directors of the company during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this 
report, unless otherwise stated: 
  
Damien Hodgkinson - Chairman 
Quentin Olda (resigned 9 November 2017) 
Kyla Banton 
Song Qixiang 
  

Dividends 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 
  

Review of operations 
The loss for the company after providing for income tax amounted to $479,237 (30 June 2017: $223,388). 
  

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the company during the financial year. 
  

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year  
No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2018 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
company's operations, the results of those operations, or the company's state of affairs in future financial years. 
  

Likely developments and expected results of operations 
Information on likely developments in the operations of the company and the expected results of operations have not been 
included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the company. 
  

Environmental regulation 
The company is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth or State law. 
  

Information on directors 
Information on the Directors is as follows 
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Name:  Damien Hodgkinson 
Title:  Chairman 
Age:  49 
Qualifications:  Bachelor of Commerce from University of Melbourne 

 
Experience and expertise:  Mr Hodgkinson is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants Australia, and 

the Managing Director of DEM Asia Group.  
 
He has worked in Australia, the Asia Pacific and South America on complex cross 
border insolvencies and represented lenders in the realisation of offshore assets in 
North American multi-national companies including Akai Electric (Japan), Johnson 
and Evinrude (USA), and HIH Winterthur (Hong Kong).  
 
After returning to Australia in 2004, Mr Hodgkinson joined KPMG as a partner in their 
corporate restructuring practice in Sydney where he represented corporate debtors 
in the renegotiation of primary lending facilities including Lehmans, Hedley Group, 
Babcock and Brown Limited, Colorado Limited, Retail Adventures Pty Limited, BBY 
Limited and ABC Learning Centres Limited.  
 
Mr Hodgkinson is currently a director of APP Securities Pty Limited, an Australian 
stockbroking and investment banking firm servicing Asia Pacific. 

 

Name:  Kyla Banton  
Title:  Non-Executive Director 
Age:  37 
Qualifications:  Bachelors degree in Finance/Accounting from the University of Adelaide 

Bachelor of Law from Queensland University of Technology. 
   

Experience and expertise:  Kyla Banton is a solicitor with over 10 years experience in commercial litigation, 
working with clients in many fields including large corporates and government 
bodies.   
 
In 2015, Kyla commenced working in litigation funding, managing funding of large 
complex shareholder and other class actions, insolvency and general commercial 
litigation matters. 

 

Name:  Song Qixiang  
Title:  Non-Executive Director 
Age:  41 
Qualifications:  Bachelor of Business Administration from University of South Australia  

Master of Applied Finance from Macquarie University. 
 

Experience and expertise:  Ms Song is currently a Nominee Director and Company Secretary for a number of 
investment holding companies in Singapore. She has over 17 years of experience 
working in finance, accounting, corporate secretary, financial modelling, and 
commodities.  
 
Her previous role was Finance Director and Company Secretary for an investment 
banking firm where she was responsible for all aspects of financial matters including 
overseeing statutory accounting, management reporting and compliance with local 
regulatory authorities.  
 
Ms Song’s earlier work involved financial modelling and analysis of various bids for 
potential projects, participation and conducting financial and legal due diligence on 
acquisition deals as well as preparation of investment materials. 

 

Remuneration report 
The remuneration report details the key management personnel remuneration arrangements for the company, in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. 
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Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including all directors. Other than the Directors there are no other Key 
Management Personnel. 

Following the finalisation of the Deed of Company Arrangement it was determined during the year that each Director will 
receive a fee of $44,000 in respect of their services provided to the Company. Due to the nature of the Company no 
performance based remuneration has been awarded however this will be considered in subsequent years. 

Shares under option 
There were no unissued ordinary shares of the company under option outstanding at the date of this report. 

Shares issued on the exercise of options 
There were no ordinary shares of the company issued on the exercise of options during the year ended 30 June 2018 and 
up to the date of this report. 

Indemnity and insurance of officers 
The company has indemnified the directors and executives of the company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director 
or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. 

Indemnity and insurance of auditor 
The company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the 
company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 

During the financial year, the company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the company 
or any related entity. 

Proceedings on behalf of the company 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings. 

Auditor's independence declaration 
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 
immediately after this directors' report. 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 
2001. 

Onbe��------~ 

Damien Hodgkinson 
Chairman 

8 August 2018 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE 
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF CERAMIC FUEL CELLS 
LIMITED 
 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief during the year ended 30 June 2018 
there have been: 

— no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

— no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
audit. 

 
 
 
 
William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136 
 
 
 
 
N. S. Benbow 
Director 
 
Melbourne, 8 August 2018 
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Other revenue  3  -    383,508  
  
Expenses       
Employee benefits expense    (156,000)  (152,000) 
General & Administration    (283,944)  (426,377) 
Finance costs    (39,293)  (28,519) 
  
Loss before income tax expense    (479,237)  (223,388) 
  
Income tax expense    -    -   
  
Loss after income tax expense for the year attributable to the owners of 
Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited  

 
 

 
(479,237) 

 
(223,388) 

  

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax    -    -   
  
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of 
Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited  

 
 

 
(479,237) 

 
(223,388) 

  
    Cents  Cents 
       
Basic earnings per share  16  (0.01370)  (0.00661) 
Diluted earnings per share  16  (0.01370)  (0.00661) 
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Assets       
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents  4  4,126   35,650  
GST receivable    10,227   41,819  
Total current assets    14,353   77,469  
       
Total assets    14,353   77,469  
  

Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables  5  518,602   180,519  
Loan  6  663,038   585,000  
Total current liabilities    1,181,640   765,519  
       
Total liabilities    1,181,640   765,519  
  
Net liabilities    (1,167,287)  (688,050) 
  

Equity       
Issued capital  7  305,213,641   305,213,641  
Accumulated losses    (306,380,928)  (305,901,691) 
       
Total deficiency in equity    (1,167,287)  (688,050) 
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Issued 
 

 
 

Accumulated 
Total 

deficiency 
in equity   capital  Reserves  losses 

  $  $  $ $ 
        

Balance at 1 July 2016 
 

305,173,641  
 

5,249,332  
 

(310,927,635) (504,662) 
        
Loss after income tax expense for the year  -  -  (223,388) (223,388) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -  - -   
        
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  -  (223,388) (223,388) 
        
Issue of shares  40,000   -  - 40,000  
Transfer of expired share based payments  -  (5,249,332)  5,249,332  -   
        

Balance at 30 June 2017 
 

305,213,641  
 

- 
 

(305,901,691) (688,050) 
  
  
  Issued    Accumulated  Total 

deficiency in 
equity  

 
capital 

 
Reserves 

 
Losses 

 

  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2017  305,213,641   -  (305,901,691)  (688,050) 
         
Loss after income tax expense for the year  -  -  (479,237)  (479,237) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -  -  -   
         
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  -  (479,237)  (479,237) 
         
Balance at 30 June 2018  305,213,641   -  (306,380,928)  (1,167,287) 
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Cash flows from operating activities       
Payments to suppliers (inclusive of GST)    (109,562)  (1,153,025) 
       
Net cash used in operating activities  15  (109,562)  (1,153,025) 
  

Cash flows from investing activities       
       
Net cash from investing activities    -    -   
  

Cash flows from financing activities       
Issue of share capital (net of costs)  7  -    40,000  
Proceeds from borrowings    78,038   585,000  
       
Net cash from financing activities    78,038   625,000  
  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (31,524)  (528,025) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year    35,650   563,675  
       
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year  4  4,126   35,650  
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Note 1. Significant accounting policies 
  
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
  
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The company has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
  
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have been early adopted. 
  
Basis of preparation 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001, as 
appropriate for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 
  
The financial statements have been prepared under historical cost. 
  
Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity's accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 
  
Other revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 
  
Income tax 
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the applicable 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable. 
  
The consolidated entity has tax losses carried forward from its previous operations. However, as a result of a significant 
change of ownership and change in business activities it is unlikely that these losses will be able to be utilised. 
  
The Research and Development Tax Incentive is recognised when the cash is received or when the right to receive 
payment is established. 
  
Current and non-current classification 
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. 
  
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the 
company's normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 
months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used 
to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 
  
A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the company's normal operating cycle; it is held 
primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities 
are classified as non-current. 
  
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
  
Trade and other receivables 
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. 
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Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the company prior to the end of the financial year 
and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
  
Borrowings 
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. They 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
  
Where there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, the 
loans or borrowings are classified as non-current. 
  
Finance costs 
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed in 
the period in which they are incurred. 
  
Fair value measurement 
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the 
fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the 
principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 
  
Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its 
highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs. 
  
Issued capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
  
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 
  
Earnings per share 
  
Basic loss per share 
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited , excluding 
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 
  
Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense. 
  
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position. 
  
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
  
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority. 
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Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
  
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates 
in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates 
and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, 
management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will 
seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial 
year are discussed below. 
  
Contingent asset 
Management have elected to recognise a contingent asset in respect of a class action legal settlement entered into during 
2008. Further disclosure is provided in Note 10. Significant judgment is required in respect of this matter..  
  

Note 3. Other revenue 
  
  2018  2017 
  $  $ 
     
Debt forgiveness in respect of Deed of Company Arrangement  -    383,508  
  

Note 4. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents 
  
  2018  2017 
  $  $ 
     
Cash at bank  4,126   35,650  
  

Note 5. Current liabilities - trade and other payables 
  
  2018  2017 
  $  $ 
     
Trade payables  1,290   20,000  
Other payables  449,500   132,000  
Interest payable  67,812   28,519  
     
  518,602   180,519  
  
Refer to note 9 for further information on financial instruments. 
  
Other payables in the current year relate to amounts payable to Directors of the Company and accrued audit and legal 
fees. 
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Note 6. Current liabilities - Loan 
  
  2018  2017 
  $  $ 
     
Related party loan  663,038   585,000  
  
An unsecured subordinated loan of $585,000 was established with Litigation Capital Partners Funding Pte Ltd, as a 
condition of the Deed of Company Arrangement to fund the contribution to the Creditors Trust. The interest for the loan 
is accrued at the Reserve Bank of Australia interest rate plus 5%. In the prior year the loan had no equity conversion 
feature however on 19 September 2017 the Company amended the loan agreement with Litigation Capital Partners to 
include the following amendments; 
 

• To increase the available facility to $935,000 by way of a facility extension of $350,000; 
 

• At the discretion of Litigation Capital Partners the loan may now be converted into shares at a rate of $0.0001 
per share; and 
 

• The loan repayment date has been modified to only require repayment if the Company issues new share capital 
 

Note 7. Equity - issued capital 
  
  2018  2017  2018  2017 
  Shares  Shares  $  $ 
         
Ordinary shares - fully paid  3,497,859,543   3,497,859,543   305,213,641   305,213,641  
  
Movements in ordinary share capital 
  
Details  Date  Shares  Issue price  $ 
         
Balance  1 July 2016  3,041,616,994     305,173,641  
Capitalisation of company prior to exiting from 
external administration 

 
4 October 2016 

 
456,242,549  

 
$0.00001  

 
40,000  

         
Balance  30 June 2017  3,497,859,543     305,213,641  
         
Balance  30 June 2018  3,497,859,543     305,213,641  
  
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and 
the company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 
  
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 
  
Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated 
as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 
  

Note 8. Equity - dividends 
  
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 
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Note 9. Financial instruments 
  
Financial risk management objectives 
The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including interest rate risk and liquidity risk. These risks 
are discussed and documented below; 
  
Interest rate risk 
The company's loan and borrowing is accruing interest based on the Reserve Bank of Australia ("RBA") rate plus 5%.  
However, the impact of a rate change pushed down by the RBA of 0.25% would not have a material impact on the 
Company. 
  
Liquidity risk 
 
The company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing facilities by 
continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 
  
Remaining contractual maturities 
The following tables detail the company's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The tables 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the 
financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining 
contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position. 
  

 

 Weighted 
average 

interest rate 

 

1 year or less 

 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

 
Between 2 
and 5 years 

 

Over 5 years 

 Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

2018  %  $  $  $  $  $ 
             
Non-derivatives             
Non-interest bearing             
Trade payables and other 
payables 

 
- 

 
518,602  

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
518,602 

             
Interest-bearing - fixed rate             
Other loans  -  663,038   -  -  -  663,038  
Total non-derivatives    1,181,640   -  -  -  1,181,640  
  

 

 Weighted 
average 

interest rate 

 

1 year or less 

 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

 
Between 2 
and 5 years 

 

Over 5 years 

 Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

2017  %  $  $  $  $  $ 
             
Non-derivatives             
Non-interest bearing             
Trade payables  -  180,519   -  -  -  180,519  
             
Interest-bearing - variable             
Other loans  -  585,000   -  -  -  585,000  
Total non-derivatives    765,519   -  -  -  765,519  
  
The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed 
above. 
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Note 10. Key management personnel disclosures 
  
Directors 
The following persons were directors of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited  during the financial year: 
  
Damien Hodgkinson    
Kyla Banton    
Song Qixiang    
  
Compensation 
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the company is set 
out below: 
  
  2018  2017 
  $  $ 
     
Short-term employee benefits  132,000   132,000  
  
*Includes superannuation benefit of 9.5% 
  

Note 11. Remuneration of auditors 
  
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by William Buck (Vic) Audit Pty Ltd, 
the auditor of the company: 
  
  2018  2017 
  $  $ 
     
Audit services - William Buck      
Audit of the financial statements  5,000   6,000  
Preparation of financial statements  2,500   2,500  
     
  7,500   8,500  
  

Note 12. Contingent assets 
  
Prior to 2008 the company acquired a number of collateralized debt obligations ("CDO's) as part of its cash management 
and reserve strategy for surplus funds. These investments held at “AAA” rating by Standard and Poor and as such were 
considered to be blue chip investment securities. In 2008 as a result of the financial crisis these investments defaulted 
and were provisioned to zero in the financial report. In 2015 the Liquidators of the company entered into a funding 
agreement with LCP Capital Partners Pte Limited to participate in a class action against the rating agency Standard and 
Poor. The class action claims were considered highly speculative and may have been time barred given the time since 
the date of the original investments. The sum total of the company losses on these investments was $17.1 million. 
  
The litigation has now been settled but the exact amount of the settlement is confidential and is subject to court orders 
being made in respect to the costs. Until the amount recoverable has been determined we have classified the claim as a 
Contingent Asset. It is expected that the company will recovery approximately $3 million to $4 million subject to the final 
cost orders and distributions, the timing of which has not yet been determined. 
  

Note 13. Related party transactions 
  
Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 10. 
  
Transactions with related parties 
An amount of $39,293 was accrued in respect of an interest charge on the related party loan as noted below. 
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Receivable from and payable to related parties 
There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous reporting date. 
  
Loans to/from related parties 
A loan of $585,000 was established with Litigation Capital Partners Funding Pte Ltd, a company for which Song Qixiang 
is an employee in the prior year. During the 2018 financial year an additional $78,038 was advanced based on the 19 
September 2017 loan amendment resulting in a closing loan balance from related parties of $663,038. The interest for the 
loan is accrued at the Reserve Bank of Australia interest rate plus 5%. 
  

Note 14. Events after the reporting period 
  
No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2018 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
company's operations, the results of those operations, or the company's state of affairs in future financial years. 
  

Note 15. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash used in operating activities 
  
  2018  2017 
  $  $ 
     
Loss after income tax expense for the year  (479,237)  (223,388) 
     
Adjustments for:     
Disposal of assets in the Group  -    248,000  
Accrued interest  39,293    28,519  
Deed of Company arrangement debt forgiveness   -  (383,508) 
     
Change in operating assets and liabilities:     

Decrease in GST receivable  31,592   28,881  
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  298,790   (851,529) 

     
Net cash used in operating activities  (109,562)  (1,153,025) 
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Note 16. Loss per share 
  
  2018  2017 
  $  $ 
     
Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited   (479,237)  (223,388) 
  
  Number  Number 
     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per 
share 

 
3,497,859,543  

 
3,377,861,503  

     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per 
share 

 
3,497,859,543  

 
3,377,861,503  

  
  Cents  Cents 
     
Basic earnings per share  (0.01370)  (0.00661) 
Diluted earnings per share  (0.01370)  (0.00661) 
  
There were no results from discontinued operations, nor net loss attributable to outside equity interests, to be taken into 
accounting in determining earnings used in calculating basis and diluted earnings per share.  
  





 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial report of Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited (the Company), which 
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the statement of 
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ 
declaration. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company, is in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, including:  
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of 
its financial performance for the year ended on that date; and  
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 
2001.  
 

Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional 
and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations 
Act 2001, which has been given to the directors of the Company, would be in 
the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 

Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited 
Independent auditor’s report to members  
 



 
 

 

 

Other Information  
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information in 
the Company’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not include the financial report and 
the auditor’s report thereon. 
  
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of this financial report. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 



 
 

 

 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern.  

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.  

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the financial report. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Company audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.  
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  
 
 
 
 
William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136 
 
 
 
 
N. S. Benbow 
Director 
Melbourne, 8 August 2018 
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